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Digital Future for 
Management Services

Welcome to the Institute’s first fully online journal, I 
hope that members and readers enjoy this important 
development. It is still possible to purchase a printed 

copy of the journal at the small cost of £25 per annum, so please 
email admin@ims-productivity.com if this is something you 
would like to take up.

The Institute achieved a significant number of new members 
studying for the IMS qualifications in 2017 and I am pleased to 
report that this has continued across many sectors (commercial 
and manufacturing) in 2018, both in the UK and overseas. 
To help this growth, as well as the existing Life Membership 
category, we are planning to enhance Affiliate membership as 
detailed in the 2018 AGM notice. This will be a very positive 
move and help retain members for longer whilst they complete 
the IMS Certificate, the new IMS CPD Scheme and progress their 
membership grade within the Institute. 

I would like to draw your attention to the newly launched 
IMS Continuing Professional Development scheme. This has 
been developed over the last few months to fill a gap in the 
professional development opportunities offered to members. 
Please visit the Institute website for full details and to get 
started. Simon Tate, Institute Chair of Education, is the first 
person to register and test out the new scheme. We look 

forward to finding out how he gets on in the next few months. 
The National AGM, which this year takes place on Friday 12 

October 2018 at 10.30am, will follow the successful format 
of the last few years. The formal AGM will be followed by a 
workshop and networking event, concluding with a buffet 
lunch. A wide range of relevant topics will be covered, including 
an opportunity to find out about the success our new President 
is having promoting the Institute at home and overseas. Details 
can be found in the AGM notice on page 5. I look forward to 
meeting up with many of you on the day. If you are not able 
to attend in person, please vote using the proxy form that was 
circulated in the most recent email newsletter – voting is really 
important because as members we have a responsibility to guide 
the future development of the Institute. 

We have seen significant changes to our Institute in the last 
two years; the changes will secure its future for many years 
to come. I am looking forward to announcing further new 
initiatives in the coming months. Our Institute is run largely by 
volunteers which is one of its many strengths; if you feel you 
would like to get more involved please get in touch to discuss 
the opportunities available.

Julian Cutler
Chairman

If Institute members are seeking to enhance their career prospects, 
they should consider continuing professional development (CPD) 
which is used by many professionals to develop new skills and 
knowledge throughout their career.  CPD has become crucial in 
terms of career progression. 

CPD is a proactive and conscious form of learning which uses 
various methods to help individuals either learn new skills or 
develop existing ones. As the name suggests, it is an ongoing 
learning process. It is also a self-driven form of learning, with the 
individual deciding their own additional training needs.

Participation in CPD offers numerous benefits to both the 
individual and their employer. For you as a professional, it 
helps to ensure your skills and knowledge are up to date, and 
the professional standard of your Institute registrations and 
qualifications are maintained. For your employer, it ensures 
that the company standards are both high and consistent. Your 
employer will see that you are actively dedicated to the job role 
and value your commitment to the role.

Whether you’re looking for a promotion, or you’re hoping to 
gain employment with a prestigious company, CPD can really help. 
It enables you to stand out from the crowd, with research showing 

that those who have undertaken CPD, have a significantly higher 
chance of gaining a promotion or moving on to a different area 
within their chosen field.

Practically anything which can further your knowledge and skills 
is classed as CPD. This includes:
• Events
• Training courses
• Workshops
• Research
• E-Learning 
Each of the above has its own range of benefits and most 
professionals choose to undergo several types of CPD for best 
results.

The Institute of Management Services CPD programme is 
designed to be flexible, enabling participants to choose courses and 
methods of knowledge acquisition that most benefit the individual 
in advancing their professional development. 

Details of the Institute’s continuing professional development 
(CPD) programme can be found on the website  
www.ims-productivity.com by clicking on the link at the bottom of 
the website home page.

The Institute’s CPD Programme
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AGM 2018 – Reminder  
The Institute of Management Services 2017 AGM will be held at 
10.30am on Friday 12 October in the Charter Room, The George 
Hotel, Bird Street, Lichfield WA13 6PR. All members are welcome 
to attend.

A workshop and networking event is being planned to follow 
the AGM, titled ‘Stepping up to the Productivity Challenge’. 
AGM Speakers include President Professor Colin Coulson-Thomas 
and Steven Porter, Clerk to Productivity Trailblazer Group. A 
buffet lunch and opportunity to network with colleagues will 
follow the meeting and workshop.

Please contact Lynette Gill (admin@ims-productivity.com) if you 
are attending the AGM, so that catering can be arranged. 

EAST MIDLANDS REGION

On Saturday 12 May, a party from the West Midlands Region 
had a conducted tour of the Coventry Transport Museum, 
following its recent £9.5 million themed refurbishment to show 
the development of road transport, its association with Coventry 
City and the wider implications on society.

In Georgian and Victorian times, Coventry was associated 
with watch making and silk weaving but a number of small 
manufacturers became interested in embryonic bicycles such 
as the ‘bone shaker’ and ‘velocipede’ and later the ’Penny 
Farthing’, but the turning point in the bicycle industry came in 
the mid 1880s with the development by John Kemp Starley in 
Coventry of the ‘safety bicycle’ which provided the basic design 
of the modern bicycle.

Starley Rover Safety Bicycle     Starley Rover Advertisement

In 1914 with the outbreak of World War I, Coventry’s industry 
became involved in the war effort and munitions production, 
but as the war progressed motor vehicles played increasingly 
significant military role.

With the return of peace, motor car production resumed and in 
the 1920s the emphasis particularly by Henry Ford, William Morris 
with his Morris 8 and Herbert Austin with the Austin 7, was to 
provide reasonably priced motor cars for a new mass market. 

The East Midlands Regional Board met on Sunday 8 July at the 
home of Treasurer John Else, who afterwards provided a BBQ for 
members and their wives.

Amongst the widespread general discussion, the difficulties in 
obtaining sponsors for local IMS were noted. Notwithstanding 
the problems, it was agreed to enquire about visits to a 

local cheese making organisation and/or go to the Amazon 
warehouses in Staffordshire. These potential visits will be in the 
later part of this year and/or early next year.

The session was very positive and confident, and we look 
forward to the National AGM on Friday 12 October.

John Davies, Regional Secretary

WEST MIDLANDS  REGION

Coventry’s city centre with great loss of life and injury to 
its citizens. However, war production continued since the 
government had encouraged companies to build ‘shadow 
factories’ on the outskirts of the city in the open countryside.

After the war, Coventry was rebuilt and prospered with a 
boom for the car industry which in Coventry was centred on the 
Standard Motor Company, including Triumph cars, Jaguar cars, 
and the Rootes Group which included the Hillman, Singer and 
Humber brands, as well as other vehicle manufacturers such 
as Alvis for cars and military vehicles and Massey Ferguson for 
tractor production.

Rover 2000 – iconic car of the early 
1970s. The Rover company’s origin 
was Starley Rover Cycles

By the late 1970s and 1980s, 
a combination of factors 
caused contraction and 
consolidation in the industry. 
However, Coventry is once 
more involved with the 

rejuvenated motor industry with Jaguar Land Rover and the 
production of the all new electric London Taxi Cab.

The museum also includes commercial vehicles and World 
Land Speed Record breaking cars Thrust 1 and Trust 2. A very 
interesting museum which requires a full half day to explore 
its exhibits and commentary on the technical and social 
developments.

John Hopkinson
Chair, West Midlands Region

Visit to the Coventry Transport Museum

Herbert Austin in Austin 7  Standard 8 – by 1938  
    modest priced cars had steel bodies

With the outbreak of war in 1939 Coventry’s industry was 
again committed to the war effort and the city was subjected 
to concentrated bombing by the Luftwaffe which destroyed 
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When considering themselves, most people 
consider they are more productive than they 
actually are, with some 95% of UK employees 

considering they are as productive as fellow workers. 
Clearly, this is a meaningless belief if their fellow workers 
are not very productive. 

Sadly in the UK, many companies do not recognise 
that they are not productive. The real problem lays in 
getting companies to recognise they have a productivity 
problem and address it. Sir Charles Mayfield, Chair of the 
industry group set up by the Government to improve UK 
productivity, indicates that while government has a role to 
play in solving the problem, business must take on greater 
responsibility for improving productivity.

Since the financial crisis, UK productivity has fallen further 
behind other leading economies such as the US, Germany 

and France. At current rates, according recent research the 
UK will by 2025 be nearly a third less productive per hour 
worked than Germany. 

This productivity gap is often described as a ‘puzzle’, since 
it hard to explain why businesses of the same size in the 
same industry perform very differently.

Increasingly, more enlightened companies are training 
staff in productivity techniques that will assist in making the 
business more productive. We are seeing more companies 
sending staff on Institute of Management Services (IMS) 
approved productivity courses. 

The main IMS approved training provider Scott Grant 
(www.scott-grant.co.uk) is seeing a much higher demand 
for productivity training courses from a wide variety of 
businesses, small and large, and also from Government 
departments. 

Productivity training courses – the 
way to improving UK productivity
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We live in a world where systems using AI, robotics 
and automation, are matching or exceeding 
human performance in more and more domains. 

Yet, global productivity levels have been stagnant since the 
economic crisis of 2008. 

The global total factor productivity (TFP), which measures 
the efficiency with which inputs such as labour and capital are 
used, grew at 1.2% per year on an average between 1999 and 
2008, slowed to 0.3 % till 2012, and has stagnated since then. 

For the advanced economies, including the US, Japan and 
the Eurozone, TFP growth has either stagnated or fallen into 
negative territory, while the developing countries have shown 

a mixed performance. India and China have experienced a TFP 
growth of 1% and 0.8%, respectively, while Brazil and Mexico 
have witnessed a fall of 0.4% and 0.9%, respectively. 

These trends are more problematic for the developing 
world than the advanced nations. Rising productivity, or 
output per worker, directly determines the improvements 
in the standard of living of a nation’s citizens. And, in 
absolute terms, the TFP levels of advanced nations are 
almost five times higher than that of the emerging 
economies. So, low growth or stagnation of TFP can grossly 
undermine the ability of poorer nations to catch-up with 
their richer counterparts.

Total factor productivity

Productivity  
in Ireland According to a new study by the Central Statistics Office, 

in 2016 Ireland was the most productive nation in 
the European Union. However, the country still has a 

significant cohort living in jobless households and struggling to 
get back to Celtic Tiger employment highs.

When looked at per hour, Ireland had the highest labour 
productivity among EU states – almost four times that of the 
lowest, Bulgaria. Even with such high productivity, there is still 
a very high proportion of people living in jobless households, 
compared to EU norms, of about one in ten. For example, in 
2016 about one in eight people (11.6%) in Ireland lived in a 
jobless household – the sixth highest proportion in the EU, and 
behind the countries like Italy, Spain and Greece (which has the 
highest rate at 17.1%). 

While the proportion of jobless households has fallen from 
15.9% in 2012, it is still far above Celtic Tiger highs of just 7.9%.
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UK productivity is under increasing scrutiny following 
the Office of National Statistics (ONS) figures, which 
identified a 0.5% fall in the first quarter of 2018. In 

order to give SMEs more advice on tackling this area, NatWest 
Bank jointly with the Centre for Economics & Business Research 
(CEBR) has released a practical guide on productivity. The 
NatWest business and premier banking managing director, 
Marcelino Castrillo, stressed the need for SME bosses address 
the productivity issue. 

Research by the NatWest from 2000 UK SMEs indicates that 
Brexit and political uncertainty are the prime concerns, thus 
ensuring that productivity falls to the bottom of the list of 
priorities. This is despite 69% of SME decision makers believing 
productivity is important. The research also found that investing 
in workplace culture, employee benefits packages and rewards 
for good performance have the biggest impact on productivity. 
The lack of real commitment by UK SME employers results in UK 

Liverpool International 
Business Festival

The Business Festival is a global event held in Liverpool 
and attracted 27,000 visitors this year, including 
delegates from across the world. The themes of the 

event were transport, manufacturing, maritime & logistics and 
Brexit during the three week event.

The International Business Festivals held in 2014 and 2016 
generated an extra £600m in new business for UK firms and 
organisers indicate their target for 2018 is to push that total 
past the £1bn mark.

High profile speakers included CBI director general Carolyn 
Faibairn, who urged more companies to start trading overseas. 
Alex Cruz, Chairman and Chief Executive of British Airways 
was also a speaker.

The former Minister for Merseyside Lord Heseltine, was 
a keynote speaker and told the audience at Exhibition 
Centre Liverpool that education was the key reinvigorating 

communities. He said: “At the heart of everything lies 
education – if we can educate people then we can liberate 
them.

“Many schools are a disgrace. We are 29th in the global 
league table of educational standards and that is simply not 
good enough. We have great schools and great universities 
but it is the trailing edge that holds back our economy.”

Lord Heseltine’s connection with Merseyside goes back almost 
40 years. Following the Toxteth riots, he led a task force to 
revitalise the economy and begin repairing the social fabric.

He produced a report entitled It Took a Riot and his 
philosophy was that the traditional top-down approach where 
the man from Whitehall came along and told people what 
to do was always doomed to fail. Instead, he believed it was 
necessary to empower people on the ground to create their 
own ‘ladders of aspiration’.

UK productivity 
under scrutiny

employees, on average, generating £147,000 worth of output 
per year – less than half that of their German counterparts.

Various differences in workplace culture could be the reason 
behind this lag. In Germany, you stay at home when you’re ill. 
The nation enjoys some of the shortest work weeks in Europe 
and their mantra is that everyone takes care of themselves. 
NatWest reasons that if a UK business with 10 employees 
placed more focus on wellbeing, then it could increase annual 
turnover by £1.9 million. This figure rises to £4.7 million for 
businesses with 25 employees.
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BOOK REVIEW

Title: The Change Catalyst
Author: Campbell Macpherson
Publisher: John Wiley & Sons (2017) 
ISBN: 978-1-119-38626-1
Pages: 401
The Change Catalyst is a book for anyone involved in 
organisational change. The quality and guidance contained 
in the book was recognised by the fact it was a winner in the 
2018 Business Book Awards in the Leading Teams Category. The 
Business Book Awards celebrate the work of authors who have 
shared their industry or market knowledge, experience and 
expertise in published book form.

Campbell Macpherson knows the subject inside out and writes 
in an easy, conversational style that is a pleasure to read. He has 
been helping business leaders clarify their strategy and instigate 
sustainable change for more than 30 years. 

The book introduction sets the scene, explaining how 88% of 
change initiatives fail with only one in eight change initiatives 
delivering the results they set out to achieve.

This book will capture the reader’s imagination as it guides 
them through the process of implementing effective change into 
their organisation. The book is written to provide the reader 
with a roadmap that effectively guides the reader through the 
change process.

The author has written a book that is an unending source of 
answers to every question that will arise in implementing change. 
It is clear when reading the book that Campbell has a burning 
desire to make a positive difference to the way organisations 
operate and the impact they have on customers and employees.

As the author stresses, change within organisations is rarely 
managed successfully, so this book effectively provides case 
studies and guidance on how to avoided the pitfalls and bring 
about effective and meaningful change in your organisation.

The book is a must read for anyone introducing change and 
productivity improvement into an organisation. It has lessons and 
ideas relevant, not just to businesses but to life in general in these 
changing times. Read Campbell’s article on page 10 of the Journal.

Title: Management Made Easy
Author: Bill Buchan
Publisher: Book Publishing Academy (2015)
ISBN: 10: 1910662054
Pages: 114
Bill Buchan has more than 45 years’ experience as a 
manager and CEO in both the private and public sectors, 
and has a vast amount of experience in training managers. 
In writing this short book, his intention was to pass on his 
top tips to equip the reader with the tools and confidence 
needed to be a great manager, enabling them to achieve 
their full potential whilst also increasing their own and the 
company’s productivity.

The book is split into five concise and user friendly 
sections, and is easy to read within two hours. In reading 
the book you will learn to manage your team, your time, 
your projects and your customers. Sections of the book also 
cover how to manage change and confrontations.

Bill is a long standing member of the Institute of 
Management Services and as such, is well aware of the 
need for mangers to manage effectively, if the company is 
to achieve its goals and be a productive organisation with 
a happy and contented workforce.

This small publication proves there is no need for 
lengthy manuals and expensive management courses, as it 
is jargon free and straight to the point.

The book is a must read for anyone who cares about 
themselves, their employees and their job as a manager, and 
it will only take a few hours out of your busy schedule to 
read from cover to cover. Bill’s humour, which comes across 
in his writing, makes it an enjoyable read and captures the 
attention without diverting from the message.

If you are a manager of a small business, or even a large 
organisation and wish to enhance your management skills, 
then this is the book for you. 
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Boosting productivity is the only means of achieving sustainable economic 
growth. Every economist knows this. Our politicians also know it – but they are 
a little preoccupied at the moment. Consequently, it is up to business leaders to 
transform this knowledge into reality, says Campbell Macpherson.

Leading Your Way to 
Productivity Growth and 
Sustainable Success
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Productivity across the UK has stagnated since the 2008 
financial crisis; national productivity is now 25% lower 
than it would have been if it had continued the trend it 

was on until 2008. (Source: ONS)
In fact, the UK has experienced the largest reduction in 

productivity growth of any other major economy. While 
Germany, the US and Japan have seen their productivity growth 
rate halve in the last ten years due to the fallout from the Global 
Financial Crisis, the UK’s national productivity growth is just 10% 
of what it was a decade ago. (Source: Conference Board)

Consequently, UK GDP growth is tepid, lags behind the rest of 
the world and is likely to continue in this manner for some time. 
After the ONS reported Q1 growth of just 0.1%, the Bank of 
England downgraded UK GDP growth forecasts for 2018 to just 
1.4% – compared to 2.9% in the US and 2.3% in the Eurozone.

UK business investment has also been stagnant for the 
last decade. Obviously this is a major cause of our moribund 
productivity and arguably the most damning statistic of all – 
because it is entirely in our control. 

It is up to business leaders to turn this situation around – and 
we can expect little or no support from a sclerotic parliament 
that is mired in a no-win situation over Brexit.

It is up to business leaders to give our people the strategic 
clarity and confidence they need to be successful. It is up to us to 
help our people identify the changes and opportunities heading 
our way so that they can take full advantage of them. It is up to 
us to build a culture that is change-ready, and both willing and 
able to deliver.

The answer to our productivity dilemma requires one thing – 
the leadership of successful and sustainable change. 

Change is inevitable
“The future ain’t what it used to be,” once proclaimed NY 
Yankees legend and amateur philosopher, Yogi Berra. If the 
current state of national and international politics tells us 
anything, it is that change is inevitable. Brexit uncertainty looks 
set to be with us for many years. As does general uncertainty 
about the future direction of the EU. And as does global 
uncertainty due to the narcissistic unpredictability of the current 
US President.

Politics is changing; business is changing; the way we work is 
changing. The ‘job for life’ days are long gone. The ‘career for 
life’ days are also coming to an end; most of us will have several 
careers throughout our working lives. One in seven Brits are self-
employed – a large proportion out of necessity rather than choice. 
More than one in four of us now work part-time. Almost half of 
us believe we are under-employed. And we are living longer.

And of course, technology is set to change our working lives 
even further. Artificial Intelligence is forecast to replace most 
blue-collar jobs and almost half of today’s current white collar 
jobs over the next decade. But new vocations will also emerge. I 
sat next to a 25 year old on a train recently who was on her way 
to Silicon Valley to teach the Google Assistant (Google’s version 
of Amazon’s Alexa) to better understand human speech and 
intonation.

Meanwhile, Augmented Intelligence has the potential 
to make us more productive. Pattern recognition software 
can already detect cancers better than a panel of the best 
oncologists.

Customer service avatars, such as Soul Machines’ ‘Rachel’ 

“It is up to business leaders to 
give our people the strategic 
clarity and confidence they need 
to be successful.”

(search for her online) are set to replace human call centres 
much quicker than we may realise. We used to outsource our call 
centres to India or Scotland, within a few short years we will be 
outsourcing them to the cloud.

Change is inevitable and the changes ahead look set to enable 
us to improve our productivity enormously. 

What are you doing to keep up with technological innovations 
affecting your industry? What are you doing to look for 
opportunities amongst the tsunami of technological change 
heading your way?

Leading change is the most important skill you and your 
leadership team could develop.

If you are not leading change, you are not leading anything. 
You are just managing the status quo. And if you are doing that, 
your business is going backwards. 

As we explain in our ‘Leading Change for Leadership Teams’ 
workshops, leading change is tough. 88% of change initiatives 
fail to deliver the outcomes they set out to achieve. A similar 
number of business strategies, mergers and acquisitions suffer 
the same fate.

So here are some key things I recommend doing to turn the 
odds in your favour:

Give your people clarity
If your people are going to deliver the change you require, they 
must be completely clear about what the end result needs to be, 
what success looks like and how it will be measured. 
But more than this – no-one delivers anything of value simply 
because they are told to. They need to know why. 

Understand the implications
‘Implications’ is the most forgotten word in the business lexicon 
and yet unintended consequences have scuppered many a new 
plan. Every change comes with its own set of consequences: 
implications for the team, the department, the organisation and 
the individuals involved. 

Leaders need to work with their people to unearth as many of 
these implications as possible in advance, as some of them will 
be so significant that the strategy itself may need to be altered.

Be obsessed with outcomes
Never be fooled by a good, solid process – it is merely an 
enabler. A process without an outcome is a road to nowhere. 
I have seen far too many flawless and detailed change 
processes fail to deliver: ‘The operation was a complete success. 
Unfortunately the patient died’. As a change leader, you 
need to be focused to the point of obsession with outcomes 
– continually checking whether the original outcomes are still 
valid; continually bringing the project back to what it is trying to 
achieve; continually probing whether the project is on track to 
deliver the outcomes the business needs.



12 Management Services 
Autumn 2018

Remember that emotions trump logic every time
Emotions rule our decisions. This fact was proven by 
Portuguese neuroscientist, Professor Antonio Damasio after 
a study of brain damage victims that left them unable to 
feel emotions. A surprising consequence was that they also 
couldn’t make decisions – even simple decisions such as what 
to eat.

For evidence of the power of emotions in decision-making, 
we need look no further than David Cameron’s disastrous 
campaign for Britain to remain in the EU. As he amply 
demonstrated, logic alone is an inadequate motivator. To 
follow a leader, people need to be motivated emotionally. 
People voted to leave the EU for emotional reasons – they 
felt they had nothing to lose; they wished to be free of the 
expensive and controlling yoke of Brussels; they wanted to 
take back control of their borders; or for the patriotic belief 
that an unshackled Britain could be ‘Great’ again. When it 
comes to decisions, emotion wins the day every time. 

It is the same when it comes to business. A brilliant study 
by the Corporate Leadership Council of 50,000 employees 
back in 2004 concluded that, when it comes to employee 
performance, emotional commitment is four times more 
powerful than rational commitment. Four times! See my web 
site www.changeandstrategy.com for details of the study and 
its conclusions. 

To be successful we have to appeal to our people’s emotions; 
we have to find their emotional triggers. As change leaders, 
we ignore emotions at our peril.

Business strategies that fail, fail to communicate 
effectively
They fail to genuinely engage their stakeholders – especially 
the employees who they need to deliver the change. Too 
many leaders think that broadcast-style town hall sessions 
and all-staff emails are sufficient modes of communication. 
They aren’t. Too many change leaders forget that genuine 
communication involves listening.

Overcome inertia
The forces against change are unrelenting. Inertia is a major 
barrier to successful change and there are three types of 
inertia:
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Learn how to improve productivity
We offer a range of courses to study productivity improvement and work measurement

• IMS Certificate modules, including Time Study
• Performance Rating clinics
• The MOST® technique and re-certification
• Appreciation courses and Lean techniques

Check out the details in www.scott-grant.co.uk/study-productivity

About the author
Campbell Macpherson is the author of The Change 
Catalyst: Secrets to Successful and Sustainable Business 
Change – winner of the Business Book of the Year at the 
2018 Business Book Awards. 
He is a multi-disciplined, international, senior business 
advisor with more than 25 years of experience in 
enabling the design and successful delivery of strategic 
change, especially within financial services. He advises 
organisations worldwide via his consultancy Change & 
Strategy International (www.changeandstrategy.com). 

“One of the most important ingredients for successfully instigating 
sustainable change is the identification of a change catalyst.”

The first is initial inertia – the difficulty of moving from talk 
to action. The design phases of a change initiative or strategy 
are challenging enough. A great deal of work has been done 
just to develop the plan. Inevitably, there comes a time when 
the leadership needs to dedicate their energy to other things. 
This usually coincides with the implementation phase and it is a 
mistake.

Mid-term inertia is a very common cause of change failure. 
Most change initiatives, especially costly IT projects, can be 
likened to a run-away locomotive. Once it gains momentum, it 
is almost impossible to stop or change course. Few people are 
politically brave enough to try. Yet circumstances change. Build 
at least one pause for reflection into your change process. Give 
the team the freedom to pause and assess whether the planned 
outcomes are still possible – or still desired.

The third form of inertia is good old fashioned complacency 
which is the cancer that has killed many a successful corporation. 
I dedicate a whole chapter to this in the book. It is incredibly 
difficult for a market leader to innovate or change to any 
great degree. But you have to – or you will be usurped. Just ask 
Kodak or Woolworths or RBS or Blockbuster. What will be your 
organisation’s ‘Kodak moment’?

Create a change-ready culture
An organisation’s culture underpins its success – or failure. The 
way your people interact with one another drives the way 
they treat your customers. Your culture drives your decision-
making processes, your ability to respond to challenges and 
opportunities, and your ability to change. Your people will need 
help if they are to embrace change willingly. They will need help 
to overcome their fear of the unknown, their fear of failure, 
and/or their fear of being blamed. 

Enabling this on an organisation-wide scale requires the 
establishment of an environment where people eagerly look 
for improvements in the way things are done, are allowed to 
question the status quo, encouraged to learn from failure, and 
open to new processes, procedures and structures. It requires 

the establishment of a change-ready culture. The ever-increasing 
pace of change in today’s business world means that the 
leadership need to be able to take their organisation in new 
directions swiftly and decisively when the need arises.

Identify a change catalyst
One of the most important ingredients for successfully 
instigating sustainable change is the identification of a change 
catalyst: someone to guide the organisation to the ultimate 
delivery of the outcomes the business needs. A change catalyst’s 
strength lies in their focus on outcomes. A programme or project 
manager’s strength lies in their ability to drive the process. The 
change catalyst is the yin to the project manager’s yang. You will 
need both.

Enable your people to embrace change
Finally, you must equip your people to face their fears and 
embrace change. In our ‘Power of Change’ workshop’, we 
teach that none of us is powerless when faced with change, 
even change that is thrust upon us. How we react to change is 
entirely within our control and appreciating this can make all 
the difference.

As leaders of change, we must help our people to develop the 
skills to embrace change if we wish to be successful. 

For only your people can deliver your business strategy. Only 
your people can deliver the change your business requires.
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ECCO Comfortably 
‘Shoehorns’ Intensive Training
ECCO is one of the world’s leading shoe brands, whose shoes and leather goods 
are sold in more than 90 countries. The company ECCO Sko A/S, a Danish, family 
owned organisation, was founded in 1963 by Birte and Karl Toosbuy, in Bredebro, 
Denmark, beginning with only the production of footwear, but has since 
expanded into leather production, as well as accessories and small leather goods. 

ECCO’s products are sold from over 2,200 ECCO shops and 
more than 14,000 sales points and the company employs 
more than 21,000 people worldwide. 

In 1984, ECCO established a production subsidiary in João de 
Vêr, Portugal. This site was ECCO’s first owned and operated 
shoe factory outside Denmark. Portugal was at the time already 
a major player in the European footwear industry, which made 
it easy to recruit specialist staff. Large-scale production ceased in 
2009 due to tough Asian competition, but in 2012, ECCO restarted 

production there as flexibility and closeness to European markets 
became increasingly important and many previous employees 
returned to ECCO.

Alan Searle moved from England in 1989 to be based in 
Portugal as ECCO’s Production and Technical Director after 
significant experience in the footwear industry. Currently 
approximately 98% of ECCO’s shoes are produced in their 
own shoe factories in Portugal, Slovakia, Thailand, Indonesia, 
China and Vietnam, and the rest under licence in a number of 
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other countries. After a number of years with the company a 
strategic decision was taken by the business to progress from 
an emphasis on Lean initiatives to re-establishing work study 
and time standard skills to help support each of the company’s 
manufacturing operations to be more cost-effective in times and 
methods. 

Now as ECCO’s Productivity Global Consultant, Alan was keen 
to re-establish and spread the productivity culture across the 
company with a focus on generating consistent and accurate time 
standards and monitoring individual performance and accurate 
costs.

He nominated ten people from among all the six 
manufacturing sites to study for the IMS Certificate and Time 
Study Practical Certificate. As an MMS himself, Alan realised 
these qualifications were the industry standard for productivity 
professionals and approached Scott-Grant Limited to determine 
the best way to deliver the training. He was also interested in 
the guided application offered by Scott-Grant and was keen to 
incorporate several days of this specialist help in the programme. 
He decided to bring all the delegates from their six different 
locations to the shoe factory in Indonesia, ECCO’s first Asian-based 
factory established since 1991 and now employing around 8,000 
people in its shoe factory and own tanneries. 

Two Senior Instructors arrived at the end of June in Sidoarjo 
(near Surabaya) on the eastern side of Java Island. Ian Winstanley 
and Richard Easton had planned in great detail with Managing 
Director Richard Taylor how to condense the four-week training 
course and guided application as much as possible to ensure 
the delegates’ time away from their workplace was kept to the 
minimum. An agreement was reached to work long weekdays 
(8am to 5pm) and part days on the Saturdays in the hope that 
everyone would be able to cope with the intensity and achieve 
the objective within four weeks.

Readers will see from the photograph of the presentation 
ceremony, that all the delegates were successful and coped 
not only with the amount of technical information, the 
learning of new skills and techniques, but also with the various 
examinations after each of the four modules; some delegates 
achieved a distinction in their exams. Bear in mind that many 
of the delegates were coping with using English – not their first 
language – and with all the technical detail. Their achievement 
was hailed a great success, not only by Alan Searle who was 
regularly on site during the course, but also by a Senior Vice 
President of ECCO, Flemming Larsen, who, from his base in 
Singapore, came in to meet the delegates and endorse the re-
focus on the need for work study as the foundation for the most 
cost-effective and efficient future for the company.

“The training was delivered in a very professional manner” 
said Alan Searle, “bringing people together from six different 
countries can prove to be very difficult. Ian and Richard 
managed this situation very well; the whole team bonded and 
the four weeks ran smoothly. Having completed the course and 
passed the exams, the newly qualified team members have all 
returned to their respective factories and will practise and apply 
their new skills.”

At the end of the course the delighted delegates were 
presented with their certificates and Performance Rating cards 
by an equally delighted Senior Instructor Ian Winstanley. Also 
attending the presentation were other senior colleagues from 
ECCO, Production Director Danny Tin Tau Chan and Production 

and Technical Director Karunanidhi (Karun) Thandapani, 
who came to congratulate the delegates on their significant 
achievement.

On a lighter note, the World Cup was running while the Scott-
Grant instructors were in Indonesia, which for many, wouldn’t 
have been an issue. Senior Instructor Ian, however, is a keen 
football fan and was particularly interested in the England v 
Croatia match. 

His Scott-Grant colleagues back in the UK were wondering if he 
managed to watch the match since the hotel TV wasn’t licensed 
to show it, mobile devices won’t show BBC or ITV outside the 
country and trying to find a local bar in the early hours might 
be unrealistic. Ever the creative genius, Ian found the solution: 
“Facetime home worked a treat. I was technically in my own 
living room on top of a pile of cushions, propped up inside my 
son’s trainer watching the game!”

Newly qualified delegates with their IMS Certificates, with delighted ECCO managers 
and Scott-Grant instructors (back row left to right: Danny Chan, Ian Winstanley, Alan 
Searle, Karun Thandapani, Richard Easton)
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INDUSTRY REPORT

The Power of 
Productivity

Measuring, understanding and improving productivity for SMEs. A report from 
UK merchant banking group, the Close Brothers. The Banking division provides 
lending to small businesses and individuals. Part II.
Technology and innovation
Having analysed government support and the regulatory 
environment, we now want to look at the measures SMEs are 
taking themselves which impact their productivity. We will 
look at the effects, both positive and negative, and assess 
what the measures translate to when it comes to output and 
productivity expectations.

Technology and innovation are important measures for 
improving SME productivity, creating opportunities for growth 
– and crucially – more efficiency in businesses. The SMEs we 
surveyed across the UK, France and Germany were all positive 
about technology, with half of SMEs saying new technology 
would improve staff efficiency (49%) and increase overall 
productivity (46%). This aligns with the number of SMEs saying 
they would use technology in future as a specific measure to 
improve productivity.

Over half of all UK SMEs (55%) have invested in new 
technology and software and one in four plan to invest in the 

future in this area. It is UK SMEs who are most positive about 
technology’s ability to improve staff efficiency (50%) and help 
upskill staff (43%).

French SMEs meanwhile are most likely to link improved 
technology with the ability to reduce costs through 
automation. 42% see this as a benefit compared to 32% 
of German SMEs and 35% of UK SMEs. When we consider 
France’s historical protection of workers’ rights, the high social 
security employer tax rates18 and the frequency of strikes, the 
response suggests that French SME employers may be looking 
to automation and technology to resolve some of the issues 
they face with the labour market. Such an adoption may also 
improve efficiency, boosting productivity. (Figure 5)

Cyber security
Poor cyber security can inhibit a business’ productivity, 
resulting in data loss, fraud and IT systems to fail. So when it 
comes to technology planning and investment, cyber security 
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Very prepared 

Somewhat prepared 

Neither prepared or unprepared 

Not that prepared 

Not prepared at all 

Figure 6: How prepared is your company to defend against a 
potential cyber-attack in future? (UK, French and German SMEs)
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Figure 5: What benefits do you think new technology could bring your company
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is increasingly on the agenda for all businesses. The European 
Commission is currently reviewing the EU Cybersecurity 
Strategy to align it to the new EU-wide framework on 
cybersecurity19.

Three quarters of SMEs we surveyed said they were very 
or somewhat prepared for a cyberattack and just 9% of 
SMEs admitted they were unprepared. Even 61% of micro 
SMEs – with under ten employees – across the UK, France and 
Germany said they were prepared in some way. (Figure 6)

However, evidence suggests there might be a perception gap 
in terms of preparedness. A recent study found that 68% of 
SMEs believed they were well equipped to deal with a security 
crisis but their planning and insurance protection levels 
showed otherwise20.

There is, however, a willingness to invest in cyber security 
and preparedness, with the average UK SME planning to 
spend between £5000 and £10,000 on this in the next year 
and the average French and German SME euro 5000-10,000. 

Whether this will be sufficient to fully protect against 
cybercrime is for debate, but investment in this area will help 
protect against issues like data loss or systems failure that can 
drag on productivity.

People and skills
Productivity hinges on a company’s ability to retain the right 
staff. Recruitment is therefore paramount and there is much 
speculation around how Brexit might affect this. Our research 
showed SMEs believe Brexit will hit UK recruitment hardest. 
27% of UK SMEs say Brexit will have a negative impact on 
their ability to hire the right skilled staff, compared to just 8% 
of German and 12% of French SMEs. In fact, over two thirds 
of French and German SMEs say Brexit will have no impact on 
recruitment, compared to under half of UK SMEs (44%).

Within the UK, it is businesses within professional services, 
and those in sales, media and marketing that are among the 
most pessimistic about the impact of Brexit on their ability to 
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hire skilled staff. However, it is not just the potential shortage 
of skilled workers that may impact businesses’ performance 
and productivity, but unskilled or low-skilled workers too, 
depending on the future trading relationship with the EU. 
This will likely impact some sectors more severely than others, 
including food production, retail catering and leisure, and 
building.(Figure 7)

Given that two thirds (64%) of UK SMEs think they already 
have a skills shortage and over a quarter (26%) say they are 
very concerned by this shortage, the negative impact they 
perceive Brexit will have on their ability to hire is far from 
negligible. We may see greater automation in some sectors to 
compensate for a changed labour market, or indeed, upwards 
pressure on wages as companies compete more intensely for 
particular skilled roles. However, for many companies, an 
ongoing skills shortage may simply result in reduced output 
from the business.

However, it is not all gloomy predictions from UK SMEs 
when it comes to staff: nearly half (44%) of UK SMEs are 
upskilling employees through training, education and 
workshops, a move that can boost employees’ productivity. 
Half of all UK SMEs state that they plan to invest in training, 
compared to just a third of French SMEs. Interestingly, 
upskilling staff takes priority over investing in new technology 
which allows for more automation (29%) or buying new 
machinery which is more automated (22%).

When it comes to working practices linked to productivity, 
presenteeism – employees who are at work but not engaged 
in productive work – is a well-known cause of productivity loss.

A report last year found that presenteeism and absenteeism 
– with the former far more of an issue than the latter – 
meant British employers were losing on average 27.5 days 
of productive time per employee each year. Translated into 
monetary terms this costs the UK economy £73 billion a year in 
lost productivity21.

Despite its high cost to the economy, British SMEs are least 
likely to have taken measures to improve presenteeism. Just 

19% of UK SMEs have taken steps to lower presenteeism 
compared to 26% of German SMEs and 29% of French 
SMEs. They are also least likely to have implemented shorter 
working hours for staff as a means to improve productivity per 
employee, with 14% citing this compared to 19% of German 
and 20% of French SMEs.

Accessing finance
Access to capital, growth and productivity are intrinsically 
linked. The IMF has estimated that a lack of funding could 
be responsible for as much as a 0.4 per cent decline in UK 
productivity22. In downturns and beyond, SMEs can often be 
hardest hit by any withdrawal of lending in the sector and this 
can jeopardise growth and productivity.

Despite nearly a decade of reform in the lending space 
since the financial crisis, with more types of finance than 
ever before, we found that SMEs across the UK, France and 
Germany say they are struggling to access the finance they 
need to invest and grow in their business.

Just four in ten (41%) on average say they are able to access 
all finance they need from their preferred source. 16% can’t 
access enough capital at all, from any source and 5% of SMEs 
don’t even know where to access the capital they need to 
invest in and grow their business.

French SMEs are struggling most, with just a third (33%) 
able to access finance from their preferred source and a fifth 
(21%) unable to access enough capital to grow or invest in 
their business. UK SMEs are more positive about their ability to 
access finance from their preferred source, with 41% stating 
this is possible, but a further 23% say that while they can 
access the capital they need, it is not from their preferred 
lender.

It may not all come down to bank lending though. European 
Investment Bank (EIB) financing in France came to a total 
of euro 8 billion last year, 15% of which went to supporting 
SMEs23.

Meanwhile in the UK, investment came in lower at euro 6.9 

INDUSTRY REPORT

Figure 7: What impact will Brexit have on your ability to hire the right skilled staff?
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Figure 8: Types of finance used by SMEs
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billion, with just 3% going to SMEs24.
However, the British Business Bank in the UK provides 

over £3.1 billion to UK SMEs and participates in a further 
£4.4 billion of finance to SMEs25, and in Germany the well-
established KfW Mittelstandsbank provided over euro 20 
billion to SMEs in 201526.

A lack of understanding among SMEs of their financial 
options and a lack of bespoke guidance from lenders may be 
part of the issue. In our previous report Banking on Growth: 
Closing the SME funding gap, we illustrated that two fifths of 
financial decision makers in UK SMEs go to high street banks 
for information and advice, yet just 19% of SMEs say that the 
advice their bank gives them always meets their needs. This 
can result in SMEs accessing unsuitable financial products. 
Germans, for instance, are quickest to use personal savings to 
fund their business growth. However, they also look at longer-
term products like asset finance which is used by a third (32%) 
of SMEs compared to just 13% of SMEs in France and 17% in 
the UK. (Figure 8)

Meanwhile in the UK, overdrafts are also heavily relied upon 
and a third of all SMEs (33%) are using this type of finance to 
grow their business.

In our 2016 report, Banking on Growth: Closing the SME 
funding gap, we analysed the extent to which UK SMEs were 
utilising the wrong type of finance, and the impact this can 
have on their growth. Not only does securing the wrong 
financial product often prove costly, it often means SMEs do 
not have the long-term financial security they need to invest 
in boosting their productivity.

Brexit and the future
When it comes to looking at the future challenges that 
lie ahead, Brexit is inevitably on the minds of UK SMEs in 
particular. For UK SMEs, Brexit brings uncertainty, which 
can weigh on investment decision-making and long-term 
business strategy. For instance, three in ten UK SMEs (28%) 
see planning for Brexit as one of their biggest challenges, 
compared to just 7% of French and German SMEs. (Figure 9)

Wondering how to reduce costs,  
increase capacity or improve response?
For help to address your productivity challenges, why not involve  

Scott-Grant. Our independent, objective and cost-effective help is 

valued in every business sector. 

At Scott-Grant you’re at the home of knowledge and expertise in 

improving productivity.

Email us at productivity@scott-grant.co.uk 
Find out more on www.scott-grant.co.uk
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The indirect economic impact of Brexit is also a concern for 
UK SMEs. A third (30%) state their worries about an economic 
slowdown, compared to 15% of German SMEs and 22% of 
French SMEs. Meanwhile French SMEs are the most likely to 
view the economy as an opportunity, with four in ten (41%) 
seeing an improved economy as the biggest opportunity for 
them in the coming year.

Unsurprisingly perhaps, given their concerns over Brexit, UK 
SMEs are least bullish on growth, but the optimism is still high: 
58% of them expect to grow in the next year compared to 
66% of German and 63% of French SMEs.

UK SMEs also show positive sentiment around business 
growth. Half of UK SMEs, on average, expect their headcount 
to increase next year, with larger firms most optimistic about 
headcount growth. (Figure 10)

It is vital that businesses do not let Brexit uncertainty 

hold them back from implementing specific measures that 
will increase their productivity, and by doing so, boost their 
growth. While the economy is a concern, currently, UK SMEs 
do not expect specific improvements to be impacted. Fewer 
than one in ten see either buying new machinery, providing 
better employee benefits, implementing better back office 
systems, securing a better property/ workspace or improving 
absenteeism, presenteeism and working hours as making up 
the biggest challenges they face.

It seems that although they may be unable to do much 
about the economic landscape, UK SMEs are ready to roll out 
productivity measures in order to help grow their business. 
In fact, UK SMEs are the least likely to see innovation as a big 
challenge. Just 13% of UK SMEs see focusing on innovation as 
a big challenge for their business over the next year, compared 
to 22% of French SMEs and 15% of German SMEs. This is 
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Figure 10: UK SMEs that plan to increase headcount over the next year
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Figure 9: SMEs that think planning for Brexit is one of their biggest business
challenges in the next year
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very positive given a third (34%) said they intended to use 
innovation to improve productivity.

Conclusion
Improving productivity is central to a business’ growth, yet 
in the UK, while SMEs appreciate its importance, a worrying 
number are not even measuring their productivity. This, 
perhaps, is the first step towards cracking the productivity 
challenge.

Our analysis does also provide reason for comfort. While 
the concept of productivity may not been understood by all, 
many UK SMEs are taking – or are planning to take – steps to 
enhance their output and efficacy. In several areas, they are 
outperforming French and German SMEs, leading the way on 
technology and software investment and upskilling staff.

There is still more that can be done – and learnings we 
can take from where French and German SMEs perform 
particularly well. For example, French SMEs have taken 
positive steps to lower presenteeism levels and in turn reduce 
productivity losses. Investing in technology to improve 
automation where appropriate to the business, as the French 
have done, could be one way that UK SMEs look to improve 
their own productivity. Meanwhile, Germany’s approach to 
apprenticeships has been rooted into SME culture and has 
resulted in a successful system combining academia with 
on-the-job training. The UK government has now recognised 
the importance of apprenticeships, implementing the 
Apprenticeship Levy, which enables employers whose payroll 
totals under £3 million to draw from an apprentice fund 
without having to pay into it27.

UK businesses are operating within an environment of 
economic, regulatory and operational uncertainty as the 
country negotiates its exit from the EU. Analysing the 
results, it is clear how much of an impact these can have on 
productivity and planning. It is also important to acknowledge 
how quickly these elements can change.

Beyond the known unknowns which stand to affect 
productivity, one thing we are certain of is that by shifting 
the focus onto SMEs, the outcome for the UK as a whole can 
only be positive. The Mayfield review and subsequent creation 
of ‘Be the Business’ show the emerging desire to bring the 
debate into the SME sphere, where we hope it will have a 
positive and tangible impact. Helping the 5.4 million SMEs in 
the UK to understand, measure and improve productivity will 
be crucial to the future of the UK economy. Fortunately, and 
yet again displaying their resilience in the face of adversity, it 
seems UK SMEs are braced for the challenges that lie ahead 
and are already taking action.

Methodology
In August 2017, Censuswide surveyed 1008 financial decision 
makers in UK SMEs, 204 in French SMEs and 205 in German 
SMEs, across all sectors. The sample was comprised of 10% 
micro SMEs (2-10 employees), 30% small (11-50), 30% 
small medium (51-150) and 30% larger medium (151-250) 
enterprises.

https://www.closebrothersam.com/
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The management services profession embraces specialists 
in a number of disciplines. Practitioners employ a 
range of approaches, methodologies and techniques 

in support of management and to improve productivity, 
performance and quality. A succession of assignments can 
give many of them experience of operations in different 
business units and work on company-wide processes. This 
can broaden their perspective and raises the questions of 
whether they could do more and, particularly, the role they 
could play in the support of directors and boards. What 
factors should we consider when making the transition on 
a whole or part-time basis from supporting management 
and improving performance to supporting the board and 
providing assurance? 

Directors, Boards and CEOs are expected to have a 
perspective that embraces a total organisation and its 
network of relationships, and to seek assurance that 
corporate processes are effective and corporate activities are 
in accordance with corporate priorities and policies. While 
their duties and responsibilities are onerous, directors usually 
have limited time for monitoring and identifying areas of 
deficiency and opportunities for improvement. They depend 
upon others for implementation and opinions. However, 
many people instinctively defend what they have done and 
are protective of the activities they are responsible for. They 
often have a vested interest in putting the best gloss upon 
their achievements and playing down or concealing areas of 
relative weakness.

Corporate governance codes try to address the requirement 
for informed assurance and the reality of human behaviour. 
Hence requirements for the independent audit of financial 
accounts by an external firm of qualified accountants 
appointed by shareholders, whose staff are expected to 
be objective and independent when assessing procedures, 
practices and materiality. They are also expected to question 
and seek supporting evidence when commenting upon the 
veracity of financial statements. An effective board, and 
particularly through its audit committee, should take steps 
to ensure external auditor independence, for example by 
questioning whether non-audit work might compromise it, or 
directors periodically suggesting that an audit be put out to 
competitive tender.

Corporate governance codes tend to devote less attention 
to other groups, such as internal auditors, chief compliance, 
financial, legal and risk officers, and management services 
professionals who may also have a corporate wide remit and 
whose work, contribution and value can be compromised 
if they are not sufficiently objective and independent. As 

“Professionals should also 
observe required standards set 
by their professional bodies and 
take account of the best practice 
guides they issue.”

with whistle blowers, their activities can sometimes be 
unpopular with insecure colleagues who feel threatened by 
them, and they may benefit from a degree of protection. 
When appropriately qualified and properly resourced, these 
practitioners can be the eyes and ears of a board. If they 
are alert, perceptive and sensitive in their work and their 
recommendations add value, they can also earn the respect 
and trust of colleagues.

Ensuring clarity of purpose
Boards can benefit from specialist assurance support. People 
with corporate wide responsibilities who support a board 
are more likely to be accepted if their remit, mission and 
purpose is understood by their management colleagues, they 
are given the authority they require to be effective, their 
independence and objectivity is safeguarded, and there is 
clarity concerning the agreed scope of their activities and 
responsibilities (Coulson-Thomas, 2017). Their mission should 
be to support the board in its oversight and monitoring 
activities by providing independent assessment, and assurance 
and recommendations to help an organisation achieve the 
objectives set by the board.

Internal groups supporting a board should also take steps 
to quality assure and review their own activities. These could 
include the use of feedback from management colleagues and 
stakeholder groups within the organisation and an annual 
review by a relevant committee of the board such as an audit, 
risk, compliance or performance committee. Professionals 
should also observe required standards set by their 
professional bodies and take account of the best practice 
guides they issue. This article benefits from guidance issued 
by the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA, 2017). 
Further and ad hoc help may be required to supplement an 
internal team in a specialist area such as cyber security, or 
if particular equipment is required, for example to monitor 
pollution. 

Establishing authority 
The roles, duties and rights of certain professionals, for 
example to ask for information, could be set out in a code or 
charter (CIIA, 2017). Once this and a programme of work have 
been approved by a board, or appropriate committee, this 
can provide authority to act and strengthen their hand when 
dealing with executive colleagues. Clarity should extend to 
assurance reporting relationships to the board or a relevant 
committee, administrative reporting to an appropriate senior 
executive or executive director, and the arrangements that 
should apply in the event of certain units or colleagues not 
cooperating with or obstructing an investigation. Escalation 
routes to a committee or board chairman may be required, as 
concerns could relate to top management or a chief executive 
officer. The heads of certain support functions should have 
a direct right of access to the independent or non-executive 
members of a committee or board without management 
colleagues being present.

It strengthens an investigator’s authority if an appropriate 
committee or the board approves a work programme or 
plan, and significant enquiries and follows-up in the event 
of serious concerns, failures of compliance and ignored 
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recommendations. In dynamic and uncertain situations, some 
flexibility may be required as situations and circumstances 
change, and matters are uncovered. Being curious and 
exploring can be better than going automatic and travelling 
along a standard path (Tenner, 2018). Priorities should be risk 
and opportunity led. Investigators should be encouraged to 
be open when reporting issues and flagging up if more or 
different resources might be required. They should also have 
a sense of proportion on what is material in each context. 

Unrestricted access to records, places and people will 
normally be required by certain providers of assurance 
to a board. This enables them to form evidence-based 
opinions, assess risks and ensure compliance, but with this 
comes responsibility to observe confidentially and a duty to 
safeguard any evidence examined (CIIA, 2017). The process 
of independent investigation can sometimes be distracting 
if not unsettling, and related powers should only be used to 
the extent of enabling an opinion to be formed, conclusions 
drawn and recommendations made. 

Ensuring independence and objectivity
Corporate officers and the committees or board to which 
assurance providers report should be alert to factors, 
pressures and situations that might limit their independence 
and objectivity, and result in bias or blind spots. An 
appropriate committee or the board itself should check at 
least annually that someone acting and investigating in an 
assurance, compliance or assessment role is still objective 
and acting with independence. People concerned could be 
required to confirm that this is the case. 

Independence can be a state of mind. People supporting 
boards in assessment, assurance and investigatory roles 
should be aware of and disclose any factors that either inhibit 
or constrain their independence and objectivity, or might 
appear to others to be doing so (CIIA, 2017). They should 
avoid undue influence. Suspicion of bias arising from ignoring 
or overlooking danger signals, inadequate or insufficient 
work, closeness to certain factions, or suggestion of a lack of 
understanding, can undermine trust and confidence in both 
findings and recommendations. 

Individuals in positions of trust should strive to be 
objective, balanced and professional when forming their 
own judgements. They should be encouraged to declare 
factors that might influence their thinking and views, such 
as prior involvement with certain people or an activity under 
investigation. People should not be asked to assure their own 
responsibilities, projects they have implemented or areas they 
have personally developed. If there is insufficient activity to 

“Corporate governance codes 
try to address the requirement 
for informed assurance 
and the reality of human 
behaviour.”
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justify full time and dedicated assurance roles, safeguards 
may be needed to preserve their integrity. 

Avoiding conflicts of interest
Although supporting a board and implementing a work 
programme approved by it or a relevant committee, people in 
advisory and assurance roles often also report in to executives 
who have their own concerns and priorities. When a role is 
less than full-time this may lead to requests to undertake 
assignments or assist colleagues. Care should be taken to 
ensure that this does not result in conflicts of interest that 
might arise if someone were required to provide an opinion 
on a process that he or she designed. People can be less 
critical of areas they have contributed to and should not be 
expected to be entirely objective when assessing their own 
work.

Suggesting improvements in processes and activities 
designed and operated by others can be highly desirable. 
However, some obliging specialist professionals find that 
colleagues come to regard them as a free internal consultancy 
resource. High workloads and/or staff shortages can lead to 
requests from colleagues for help. Involvement in additional 
and unexpected activities can result in delay to an approved 
programme and insufficient attention to matters considered 
important by a board. 

Certain roles require building relationships of trust that 
encourage others to be open about deficiencies and concerns, 
while one maintains sufficient distance to avoid friendships 
and loyalties that could blunt objectivity and might result 
in bias or favouritism. After a time and when opinions have 
been formed, some people become less questioning. Should 
certain internal support roles be rotated every so many years 
as happens with external auditors?

Ensuring relevance
Individual compliance, environmental, governance, finance, 
legal, risk, internal audit and other professionals with a 
corporate wide remit and assurance role will often focus 
upon particular areas. Sometimes these can overlap. 
When resources are tight, one needs to avoid unnecessary 
duplication, while at the same time ensuring that certain 
areas do not escape independent scrutiny. This could be 

achieved by mapping processes, identifying factors that 
either deliver or could frustrate the delivery of key board and 
corporate objectives, and ensuring they are covered.

Those receiving requests to approve work programmes 
should ask that the key corporate objectives to which they 
relate be added to proposals for investigations. This can 
help to ensure their relevance and assist prioritisation and 
the identification of gaps. The individuals concerned might 
report to different senior executives, but their focus should 
be upon ensuring that activities and conduct are effective and 
efficient, in accordance and consistent with corporate rules, 
policies, procedures, objectives and priorities, and relevant 
codes, laws, regulations, standards and license conditions. 

In some companies, integration is helped by a common 
reporting link to a director of corporate or management 
services. Meetings at which findings and concerns can be 
shared can also be helpful in identifying areas of deficiency 
or root causes that impact upon a number of different areas. 
Discussion sometimes highlights individuals, information and 
reports that are less reliable than others, areas that are less 
productive, and assets and people that need to be better 
protected. 

Encouraging informal networks
Corporate governance codes tend to focus upon formal board 
and committee structures. They often overlook other and less 
formal networks that can make a significant contribution. 
Those who are engaged in assurance activities on behalf of a 
board and advising and supporting it, are often professionals 
with their own codes of practice and standards. They are 
expected to exercise independent judgement and form their 
own and evidence-based assessments, but they can benefit 
greatly from sharing concerns and lessons with colleagues.

When professionals with a corporate wide remit network 
and meet, synergy can occur. Bringing together evidence from 
different perspectives might enable deficiencies and root 
causes to be identified. It could highlight areas of actual or 
potential vulnerability or matters that others have tried to 
conceal. However, one should be alert to the possibility that 
a compliance community might become so obsessed with 
conformity, obedience and the observance of standards, as to 
become an inhibitor of diversity and innovation. Steps should 
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be taken to prevent this from happening. 
Members of an assurance, compliance and investigatory 

community often experience similar challenges and have 
certain qualities in common. They need to be firm and 
focused, while at the same time open to new possibilities and 
able to undertake their work without making other people 
feel threatened, and without triggering defensive reactions. 
Someone in a similar role should be included in panels 
to interview proposed new members of the community. 
Candidates could be asked to explain how they would cope 
with certain situations such as a lack of cooperation or 
resistance to the adoption of their recommendations. 

Reporting considerations
Assurance and compliance professionals should account for 
their performance. Those receiving their reports should look 
for evidence of vigilance in relation to abuse and fraud, and 
flexibility rather than the slavish implementation of a plan in 
a fluid and uncertain context. They should look out for ‘red 
rated’ recommendations that have not been implemented, 
inadequate or dismissive management responses and ‘no 
go’ areas. Some executives excel at ring fencing areas 
and avoiding scrutiny. One needs to be sceptical without 
becoming cynical, open to ideas and possibilities, and aware 
of external trends and developments that might represent 
areas of opportunity. 

Support activities need to be properly resourced. Many of 
them have the potential to become self-funding and they 
should contribute to the achievement of corporate objectives. 
Thoughtful and imaginative suggestions for improvement 
or transformation from a fresh pair of eyes can deliver 
considerable value. A focus upon beneficial innovation can 
encourage management colleagues to view investigations in 
a positive light and those who undertake them as helpful. 
Ideally, colleagues should encourage investigators to think 
about how a disruptive technology, a new business model or 
better support might enable an affordable improvement in 
areas for which they are responsible. 

Data can be used selectively to support a particular 
point of view. When listening to boardroom explanations, 
justifications, presentations and contending views, many 
directors sometimes wonder which arguments and portrayals, 
if any, most reflect or correspond with reality. The picture 
they receive may have passed through the distorting lens 
of subjectivity and particular perspectives and interests. 
Management services and other supporters of a board who 
are objective, informed and resistant to undue influence can 
help them to bring events, situations and views into sharper 
focus.
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In this age of turbulence, uncertainty and complexity, 
organisations, in whichever sector, have to act 
strategically and position themselves to anticipate and 
drive home change. Whether you lead or manage a 
profit or not for profit organisation, you must take the 
strategic management of change seriously, or you can 
join the line of businesses and organisations which no 
longer exist. In this article, the authors focus specifically 
on the voluntary or third sector and maintain that too 
many of these organisations prevaricate and delay 
making decisions about how to structure themselves for 
change and improvement. They maintain that there are 
some trusted commercial remedies for resolving severe 
organisational threat that can be easily replicated, and 
if accepted, rather than resisted, can develop a much 
stronger and more resilient organisation.

Voluntary or third sector probably has more scope, and can 
reap enormous benefits, if they start acting more like for 
profit businesses.’ That is an interesting and challenging 

idea to express at the beginning of any article. We did not 
say take on the extremes of capitalist values and principles 
but rather adopt a mindset of curiosity and innovation, and 
look at how better to organise themselves based on common 
sense in commercial practice. What fascinates us, as we have 

“Definition of panacea – a 
cure or solution all for all 
organisational or corporate ills. 
(Panakeia was a goddess of 
universal remedies).“

The Third or Voluntary Sector: 
Is There a Panacea for 
Mastering Change?

By Philip Atkinson and Daniel Burger.

both worked in a variety of commercial organisations before 
expanding our experience into the ‘not for profit’ sector, and 
then more specifically into the ‘voluntary’ or ‘third sector’ is the 
easy and ‘knee jerk’ rejection of commercial principles as being 
directly running against and anathema to the ethos and core 
values of third sector organisations. 

Are voluntary organisations businesses?
And this is where the problem really starts. Many voluntary sector 
organisations do not see themselves as a business, despite them 
having to resolve the same problems as those in the private and 
public sector. It is our desire to explore the thinking that serious 
research from the commercial sector can positively benefit and 
aid organisations in other sectors, no matter their purpose, 
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origin, history or ethos. We have five organisational change 
‘themes’ that ‘almost’ fit with the ideal concept of a ‘panacea’ 
– that there is a cure all. There is not a solution for every 
organisational malady – but there are five central themes or 
memes that will significantly improve the performance and 
culture of the organisation.

What unites us is our interest in equipping third sector or 
voluntary organisations to be able to directly transfer learning 
from the commercial world to their own. Management teams 
can operate very different business models to achieve their 
third sector aims if they have the will and the competence. 
Our contention is many commercial principles would bestow 
enormous (commercial) benefits to third sector organisations 
and with that in mind we explore the contribution that can 
be made.

Commonality and shared understanding of the need 
to change
Organisations need to develop foolproof strategies for 
anticipating and influencing how they can improve their 
future operational effectiveness. The alternative is not an 
option – and that would be to let the environment and other 
dominant forces, such as other third sector organisations, 
competing for and winning the attention of key benefactors, 
donors and funders. Given the choice, most voluntary 
organisations would choose to influence how their own 
futures evolve. Our initial research indicates this is not always 
the case however. 

Resistant to change
In this instance, one of the authors consulted with a large 
conservation charity which was reluctant to follow best practice 
(considered sharp practice) in commercial operations. It just so 
happened that donor or membership income was falling from 
the annual £90 million per annum – yet little research had been 
undertaken to understand why, and what to do to remedy the 
matter.

This, like many voluntary sector organisations had neither 
resources to fall back on, nor investments, shareholders, joint 
venture partners, city institutions or benefactors with large and 
deep pockets. To survive, and retain and build their membership 
base, they had to change focus and develop strategic marketing, 
or alternatively deal with the consequences of falling revenues. 
What research did discover for this organisation was that current 
members and donors, although still emotionally loyal to the 
cause and organisation, were now prioritising and diverting their 
monies to other (worthier) causes, such as victims of calamities 
throughout the world including wars, famines, forced migration, 
tsunamis, tornadoes, drought, etc. In this instance the charity’s 
markets, members and donors had changed their mindset and 
‘buying behaviour’. It was clear the charity had to adapt to those 
changes and anticipate future trends and habits, and develop 
strategies to win them back as well as find new supporters.

Here the commercial reality hit home, and strategic marketing 
delivered substantial and positive delivery for the charity. In this 
and many other cases, strategies and tactics that evolved in the 
commercial world did have substantial benefits when tailored and 
introduced into third sector organisations.

The problem for many voluntary 
organisations is that they dislike 
the idea that they are selling their 
services or memberships to their 
members or associates.”
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Risk and change aversion
Too many organisations in the third sector appear to be risk 
averse and are what we call ‘change followers’ rather than 
‘change leaders’. Further, it’s not the fact that managing 
change is ‘risky’, rather, many voluntary organisations 
do not know how to appraise, action and implement a 
change initiative. Further, they may not have the will or the 
competency to start applying solutions that emanate from the 
commercial world. This is also commonplace in the wider not 
for profit or public sector.

Public sector
Currently, many organisations that fall within the wider 
Welfare State must make serious decisions about how they 
continue to operate despite radical budgets reduction. 
Senior management teams do not have a choice, yet despite 
the pressure upon them, some choose to prevaricate rather 
than taking purposeful action. Change speeds up and 
requires thoughtful decision-making coupled with precise 
implementation before the next change comes along.

Currently, approximately five million people are employed 
in the wider Welfare State which takes up approximately two 
thirds of Government spending. Many in these organisations 
are still waiting for guidance from their leaders. There is 
no meaningful improvement without leadership. We would 
suggest leaders adopt a commercial mindset and may find that 
there are alternative, and maybe even better, business models 
for providing welfare at the point of most need.

Third sector needs to assess their strengths and 
limitations
If one believed that organisations function rationally, it would 
suggest that any organisation would focus energies on scanning 
the environment to assess trends and patterns and anticipate, 
change and adapt. Further, they would undertake their own 
SWOT or strategic analysis and assess their current strengths and 
weaknesses, rise to the challenges of any opportunities, and 
develop ways to overcome any threats from ‘new entries’ and 
competitors. Further, they should develop strategies to ensure 
that the business is able to function, evolve, grow and compete 
successfully in the longer term.

Pressures for change 
Genuinely, our conclusions are that this is often not the case. Too 
many voluntary sector businesses fail to commit to any sort of 
decision to manage change beyond the tactical manoeuvre of 
‘what if’ scenarios, for instance ‘if they do that – we will do this’. 
This is fine as a local tactical manoeuvre in the short-term, but 
this strategy will never create a leader in any industry – and in 
the ‘not for profit sector’ this will certainly not create ‘best value’. 
It is doubtful whether people in such organisations are making 
decisions fast enough to anticipate how things are changing, 
making decisions and implementing those decisions is vital in 
order to protect the future of the organisation.

Our experience tells us that:
• Leadership teams are not scanning the environment 

specifically enough to predict how their current market 
conditions will evolve and how they can intervene for the 
better.

• For those that do commit to a formal strategic analysis, too 
many are not making decisions fast enough to implement 
solutions to stave off problems, thus putting their 
organisation vulnerable and at severe risk.

• Change management is not an exact science. Politics, 
personal agenda, turf wars and bad behaviour gets in the 
way of sound change implementation. 

• Many strategies required to solve problems have yet to be 
explored and rigorously tested. The reality is that, currently, 
the many problems that organisations’ experience simply do 
not have off the shelf solutions and most never will.

• Perhaps the most obvious factor is that change is here to 
stay, and the pace of change is accelerating. Sitting still is no 
longer an option. 

Mindset changes for third sector businesses 
Energies need to be focused on differentiating what it is that 
makes a difference to those who consume or use the services 
provide by the third sector. 

Generally, there are three types of organisation in the third 
sector.
1. Membership Organisations – that cater directly to members 

interests (Alcoholics Anonymous, Multiple Sclerosis, MGB car 
owners, Cycling clubs). 

2. Service Organisations – that provide a service specifically to 
improve social, societal or human good (Barnados, RSPCA, 
RNIB, Mountain Rescue).

3. Specific Interest Groups –These could be campaigning for 
legislative or Political change (SNP, CND).



30 Management Services 
Autumn 2018

You may find that many voluntary organisations are an amalgam 
of all three types. 

The donor, user, citizen, customer mindset
The problem for many voluntary organisations is that they dislike 
the idea that they are selling their services or memberships to 
their members or associates. Theirs is not a commercial business 
and part of the free enterprise system or mixed economy. We 
agree. No, it might not be – but it does have end users and 
organisations should always put the recipients of what they 
provide at the forefront of their thinking. 

Reframe customers as clients, citizens, users, donors, recipients 
and honour them because without their support you would not 
have a business. Donor, user, member satisfaction metrics should 
enable us to intervene to influence future growth. We need to 
develop strategies that can be instantly applied as ‘donor, user, 
member or citizen issues’ by your market segment. 

Competitors
Whoever you are in the third sector, you will have competitors. 
If it’s not competition for resources, funding, donors, individual’s 
mindset or air time in potential users and supporters, it is 
competing for resources such as staff.

Beware, your competitors can change rapidly. Often, your 
core competitors now were not even operating in your sector or 
market a few years ago.

Barriers to entry in most markets are usually based upon 
‘knowledge’. The key to success in any market is being able to 
source accurate information, and act quickly upon it to put your 
business to best advantage. If your business data analysis process 
is not operating effectively you may be putting yourself at risk.

Time invested in competitor analysis is time well spent 
– especially as your organisation grows out and becomes 
international in nature. 

What is a panacea, and will it work for all voluntary, or 
third sector organisations?
It is a cure for all ills. Our argument is that ‘a magic formula’ 
does not exist. One formula cannot work for every organisation 
or business, simply because every organisation is different in 
terms of history, customers, context, technology employed, and 
service offered. No one solution will work for every business. 
We have seen ‘quick fixes’ or ‘fads’ come and go – the list is 
endless: participative management, emotional intelligence, matrix 
management, lean six sigma and so the list continues. 

Tailored solutions focus 
That said, there are many instances of how these approaches 
and others have worked, blindly applying them to a third 
sector organisation does not guarantee immediate results. The 
remedy must suit the condition or the situation. However, there 
are some very specific themes rather than ‘solutions’ that will 
move an organisation significantly towards achieving objectives. 
These themes must be tailored specifically but they are actual 
‘panaceas’ that do work. If applied, they will significantly improve 
performance along several dimensions, including business results 
and long-term stakeholder value.

Five dimensions
If organisations commit to improvement along these five 
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dimensions, they will significantly improve their performance 
and their future. These themes or panaceas do work if given 
commitment and energy in the short- and the long-term. The 
reason that many change initiatives fail is that they are launched 
with enthusiasm but fail to be sustained over the long run.

The five themes are focused on five dimensions of organisation 
and they are:
1. The donor, user, citizen, member, client
2. Leadership that drives sustainable change
3. Creating culture change
4. Infrastructure follows strategy
5. Generate a climate of continuous improvement

Five ‘themes’
Each will work well if integrated with the others. What is 
important is to understand that any change in business is 
iterative. Many managers fail to see that when we attempt 
to change ‘human systems, processes and culture itself’, it is 
impossible to track and control all the variables. This is because 
the variables we find so difficult to track, and, more importantly, 
control, are the unexpected ways in which people respond. They 
respond through their ‘emotions’ to the changes we are trying 
to implement and as much as we like to think so – these are not 
always predictable. 

Let us address the five areas.

1. Focus all attention on donors, members, users, citizens, clients 
as the purpose of your business.
Some of the issues you need to address:
• Are you proactive or reactive with the services on offer?
• Do you know the three core reasons why you lose business?
• What is it that you do specifically, that helps you retain or 

win new business? 
• How do you compare your service delivery to that of your 

competitors?
• Where are you most at risk in terms of delivering services, 

and how can you turn it around?
• Are you equally effective with all your users, donors, clients, 

stakeholders, members in different market segments?

There is no doubt that any organisation can improve its 
performance significantly just by considering the end user or 
recipient before it commits to any action. 

The excellent point about service strategies is that they can 
evolve from any point within the organisation, and everyone can 
relate to the end user or recipient. 

It is important to keep at the cutting edge of service delivery 
and recognise that it is all about generating positive emotions. 
Our research into service delivery tells us that your clients will 
experience a variety of emotions whenever they encounter an 
organisation. Organisations need to develop specific strategies to 
focus upon how many ways they can convert negative emotions 
into positive ones and, more importantly, what steps they can 
take to ensure they do not intensify negative emotions. 

2. Create a strong leadership culture – developing the internal 
capability to change.
How will you grow a commitment towards the client? The focus 

must be upon developing a strong leadership culture. The phrase 
‘without leadership there is no change’ is paramount in driving 
any change. Organisations need to address the following issues:
• What benefits will accrue if you develop a stronger 

leadership culture?
• How can you translate these benefits into effective 

teamwork?
• Where are there any gaps in the organisation where 

a leadership culture could provide a firm structure for 
improvement?

• Consider the issue – if you could double the numbers 
of acknowledged leaders and change makers in the 
organisation, would it take you further towards or away 
from your goals?

• What specific behaviours would take you to the next level in 
terms of organisational performance. 

• How can you leverage a leadership culture to do just that?

Leadership works on the cascade principle. We start with the key 
people at the top of the organisation working with their direct 
Reports. They in turn formulate the core values for the business 
and translate these into ‘must do’ desirable behaviours, away 
from the ‘stop doing’ counterproductive behaviours. 

3. Creating culture change
We know that strong vibrant cultures yield impressive results 
while weak negative cultures are slow, bureaucratic and no fun to 
work in. Culture change is based upon articulating the vision for 
the business and then translating this into how you are going to 
transact business together to get the ‘what’ or the vision. What 
emerges are 5-7 core values that can then be translated into 
‘behaviours’ and actions’, resulting in KPIs which can be measured 
and assessed. There is no secret about culture change but so many 
people put off doing it because they don’t know how to go about 
it.
• What sort of culture do you have – is it weak or strong, 

negative or positive?
• Does the whole organisation portray the culture and how do 

parts of the organisation differ?
• What holds you back from generating an even more 

powerful culture?
• How can you speed up culture change?
• What action can you take as leaders to form a strong 

foundation for a positive culture?
• How would a stronger culture impact upon your 

performance?
• Do you understand the causal relationships between vision, 

values, behaviours, actions and KPIs?

Culture change has still to be de-mystified for many organisations. 
When they unravel the causal links, the simplicity of a change 
programme can be introduced speedily.

4. Infrastructure follows strategy – focus upon process 
improvement in all areas. 
People and processes are significant factors in driving 
performance improvement. Some organisations need to spend 
a great deal of time focusing upon process improvement 
because they experience a lack of control and discipline in the 
infrastructure. Seriously, this is one big problem holding back 
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people and organisations from improving performance. We are 
interested in streamlining these processes, documenting and then 
innovating upon them and then documenting them again. As 
soon as a process is documented it is time to start again. How can 
we do this better, faster, cheaper? 
• What are the core processes that drive your business?
• What non-performing processes put your business 

performance at risk?
• What customer-focused processes need revision and 

redesign?
• What processes are unmapped?
• What processes are ambiguous and create confusion?

It is essential that voluntary organisations possess the right 
processes and the right people to question and re-design 
processes to meet the needs of end users, donors, clients etc 
tomorrow not just today. 

5. Generate a climate of continuous improvement and implement 
business transformation. 
There is little point in developing an initiative for change, if you 
fail to master the transition from today to tomorrow. 

Change takes as long as an organisation wants it to take. 
Change can be speeded up. ‘If you want change to work, start 
sooner’. It is always easy to put change off – until conditions are 
right or until ‘things calm down’. Let us face it, there is never a 
good time to implement change. 
• What is your record on change management?
• Are you equally as committed to implementing change as 

talking about it?
• Are you renowned for sustaining change initiatives once they 

have taken off?
• Do you address blockages in the change management 

process?
• Do you address ‘personal’ or ‘actual people’ blockages to 

change management?
• Do you undertake a risk assessment when introducing 

strategic change?
• Could you speed up the implementation of change?

Business transformation is again one of those areas which attracts 
a great deal of discussion because it delivers so much. 

Summary and the newspaper test
What is important is that all organisations are operating in a 
business environment where nothing is certain. We can be certain 

of nothing anymore, though we suspect that has always been the 
case.

To test the case of uncertainty, do this exercise. Take a quality 
Sunday newspaper and hide it away for four weeks. At the end 
of four weeks open the paper and read through it. Has anything 
changed? You bet it has. Political stories have evolved, economic 
trends have been confirmed or not. Brexit is still evolving and 
is severely under threat, as is the EU. Leading organisations 
continue to collapse, while some prosper. There are the slow 
but steady stream of horror stories in some public services. New 
mergers have evolved. Large companies have downsized. Fast-
breaking news stories such as #MeToo have cycled through social 
media. You will find retirement, pensions, unemployment and re-
training initiatives have turned full circle. All that can be certain 
is that things will never be the same. And this is reflected in the 
third sector.

Knowing this, organisations, and especially those in the 
voluntary sector, have some very difficult decisions to make about 
how they structure themselves to see them through to their next 
business plan. Robust strategies that have worked in the past and 
will continue to do so, fall within the five themes or ‘panaceas’ 
we have already addressed. Committing to a variant of these can 
only put your organisation in a stronger position.

What is critical is that managing change is a wise investment. 
Failing to do so burdens the organisation with liabilities it cannot 
carry and it may not survive. 

Failing to commit to making the right decisions in such a 
fast-changing world will only damn us to exist in the world of 
yesterday, rather than forging a prosperous future tomorrow. 
The panaceas are tried and tested – like anything worthwhile, it is 
sticking with them that makes the difference.
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What’s Love Got to  
Do with Management?

You may be wondering, “Don’t most organisations have policies against 
workplace romance?” Yes, many do. Besides, here I focus on a different type of 
love... the love a person can feel for their work (or position, job or employer) 
when the conditions are just right. 

Love is a peak human emotion associated with feeling our 
strongest possible appreciation for a relationship, object 
or experience. Love is powerful. It focuses and energises 

people like nothing else. Quite literally, it changes us, stimulating 
hormones and neurotransmitters, creating visceral motivation 
and extending our capabilities, whether the focus of our love 
is someone we recently met, a long-desired possession finally 
acquired, or a job that somehow feels perfect for us.  

A recent cross-cultural lexical analysis by Tim Lomas of the 
University of East London, School of Psychology, identifies 14 
different ‘flavours’ (or variations) of love, including experiences 
such as work or a job that generates strong feelings of 
appreciation1. It might have us thinking: “I love this job; it’s 

bespoke just for me”, as we naturally adapt and intuitively 
respond to the unique challenges for which we are responsible 
(able and empowered to respond) and accountable (held to 
account for the outcome).

Hopefully, you’ve already loved at least one job or work 
experience during your career. If so, you can relate to this special, 
almost magical experience and how it affects our attitude, 
behaviour, and capability for work. And when supported by 
management, these effects translate into increased work 
performance and job satisfaction, and the creation of exceptional 
economic value. 

Not only does loving our work feel great, it also transforms us 
into our most productive self and enables us to better achieve our 
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full potential. Furthermore, this effect is much the same whether 
our work is discovering disease cures, selling a new product, 
protecting the public, recruiting new employees, or directly 
serving customers. 

It’s not the work each of us performs that matters, as much 
as it is how well the work provides us with an experience that 
satisfies enough of our own idiosyncratic biopsychosocial needs, 
wants and desires. Particularly for knowledge work – work 
assigned to us as a self-managed responsibility (ie, response-
ability; versus as a standardised and elsewhere-controlled task) 
– loving our work is both cause and effect of higher productivity, 
and capable of sustaining a virtuous cycle of development.  

Understanding the work-performance-maximising 
phenomenon of ‘love’ has been one of the more surprising of 
the hundreds of work-performance related topics researched 
by the Humaneering Technology Initiative (HTI) during its first 
15 years. The development of humaneering, a universal applied 
human science for public benefit, has focused first on 21st 
century human work -- asking one more time, but now finally 
answering, many management questions too complex and 
transdisciplinary for resolution with only today’s management 
sciences. 

In effect, humaneering closes the science-practice gap for 
people-dependent business operations. It improves the design 
and simplifies the management of work performed by people, 
while increasing the productivity of knowledge work. (See 
Figure 1)

To produce these new answers, humaneering’s development 
began with translation and synthesis of more than 200 
science disciplines (ie equivalent to any organisation’s vertical 
knowledge silos) in search of answers to every organisation 
manager’s greater challenges. The resulting knowledge was 
then subjected to field experiments across diverse industries, 
people-dependent operations, unique organisations and varied 
situations, thus creating ‘real-world evidence’ (RWE)2, to guide 
the further development of new and more powerful, human-
centred management principles, methods and tools.

Taking a human-centred approach to designing and managing 

work performed by people sounds like an obvious approach, yet 
is rarely found in even today’s youthful high-tech organisations. 
A human-centred approach accomplishes the same work but at 
higher productivity levels, in part because the design is driven by 
the needs of people for best performing their work, rather than 
an industrial model or how things have always been done. 

Best-job-ever activity
This article draws on that real-world evidence to provide you 
with step-by-step instructions for a one-hour performance-
development activity you can have facilitated with one or more 
groups from your own organisation. Doing so will provide you 
with actionable knowledge for assessing and increasing the 
‘love’ your organisation members have for their work or job. 

Our hope is you will apply this guidance wisely (eg, improve 
recruiting and retention, increase performance and productivity, 
reduce people issues and disappointments), and let us know 
what it helps you achieve.  

First, let’s review several context-setting principles to guide the 
overall activity. 

1. Facilitator – A capable and respectable facilitator with no 
political affiliation should lead the activity (ie no bosses).

2. Group size – The activity has been successful with groups 
from teams of six to conferences of 2000, though keep in 
mind that larger groups (>100) require exceptional space, 
A/V and logistical support.

3. Group representation – The results will reflect the makeup 
of the group, so when seeking role/position-specific results 
it’s best to work solely with members holding that role/
position.

4. Volunteer participants – Invite targeted organisation 
members, yet allow them to volunteer (or opt out), and 
avoid requiring any organisation members to attend and/or 
participate.

5. Authentic experience – The facilitator should follow the 
provided instruction’s intent closely, yet act naturally and 

Figure 1: Humaneering closes the science-practice gap on the human side of business operations,  
simplifying the management of human work and increasing the yield on human capital
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speak in their own words, making the experience authentic 
for everyone involved.

6. Expected follow-up – This activity creates expectations in the 
minds of participants of follow-up activity and feedback, 
so don’t use if not willing to follow through and meet this 
reasonable expectation.

7. Best-job-ever – You will be completely honest with 
organisation members when you indicate the activity’s focus 
on their ‘best-job-ever’ (see Twitter #bestjobever), a widely 
used term with appropriate connotations.

8. Later discussion – Do not mention that this activity reveals 
insights into the potential for organisation members to 
‘love’ their work, as this is a secondary insight that requires a 
higher level of relationship intimacy to discuss effectively (eg, 
one-to-one after trust established).

Activity walkthrough
The words in italics are the intended comments of a facilitator. 

Step 1. Welcome  
Welcome everyone. We are here to conduct an activity that will 
help us identify some more important ways management can 
support your work. The activity is pre-planned, so I’ll appreciate 
your attention and responsiveness as we complete the steps 
involved. I think you will find the activity enjoyable and the 
results interesting.

Is there anyone else who you know planned to be here, and 
would someone call or get them so we can get started? Once we 
start, no one will be allowed to join us later. 

You will need a piece of paper and something with which to 
write. (Pass out single sheets of paper and pens to each person 
indicating the need.) 

Step 2. Recall best-job-ever 
I want you to think back to all the jobs you’ve ever performed 
and decide which one was your favourite. Which job is the best 
job you’ve ever had? It’s okay to take a couple minutes to think 
back to each one and think about what you liked and didn’t 
like about them, in which you were more productive, most 
enjoyed yourself, really developed yourself, liked the manager, or 
whatever criteria you consider more important. 

This could be your current job, or it could be your very first job, 
a summer job, a part-time job . . . you decide which of the jobs 
you’ve worked was your best job ever.

When you decide, write the job on your piece of paper and look 
up here at me, so I know you are ready to proceed.

Step 3. Recall characteristics 
Now, I want you to think about the job you selected as your best 
job ever and remember what characteristics of the situation made 
it your best job ever. Why this one and not some other job? What 
features of the situation made it so right for you? 

Please list at least four, five or more of these characteristics on 
your piece of paper.

“Loving our work is both cause 
and effect of higher productivity, 
and capable of sustaining a 
virtuous cycle of development.”
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When you finish, please look up here at me so I know you are 
ready to proceed.

Step 4. Share experience
Pair up with someone seated near you, and take turns sharing 
your lists and related experiences describing your best jobs ever. 
Take about five minutes each to share.

Step 5. Observe similarity 
When comparing, what did you notice about the characteristics of 
your best job experience? 

Prompt if needed. Did you notice any similarity? 

Considered topically (minus personalising detail), several 
characteristics are the same, or even identical. What might we 
conclude from this similarity? The same topics (ie, characteristics 
minus personalising detail) are important to most people. 

As an example of similar topics with different personalising detail, 
consider that two participants may list ‘my manager’s support’, 
with one referring to emotional support (eg, more than normal 
encouragement, advice) and the other referring to advancement 
support (eg, money and time for a course to qualify for internal 
promotion).

Step 6. Prepare to compile
Now I need one person who is willing to share with us their list 
of characteristics, so I can write them on the board. Do I have a 
volunteer? Select.

Thanks for your courage. Here are the rules for sharing.
• Please individually tell me the characteristics on your list in 

the order you wrote them.
• When I record them, I may omit some personalising details, 

so the topic is clear, but please don’t let me lose the meaning 
you intended.

• Please share your list in order, and do not add any additional 
characteristics.

• After we list your characteristics on the board, I will ask 
if anyone else will share any characteristics from their list 

that are not already on the board.
• We’ll stop after three to five people have shared, or when we 

reach 15 characteristics on the board.

Step 7. Compile list on board
Record one characteristic at a time, asking for clarification when 
helpful to reduce personalised comment into a broader topic that 
others may also have on their list. Others in the group will get 
involved in working through this clarification and generalisation 
activity.

When the first volunteer’s list is represented on the board, then 
select another volunteer and continue the process until you have 
compiled a list of 15 characteristics or heard from five volunteers.

Step 8. Consider the list
The facilitator should step aside to see the full list, and then ask 
the participants what sense they make of the list. What can we 
conclude from this list?

Any comment from participants is acceptable, though the 
facilitator might ask the participants if they reach the same 
conclusion. Can others see this?

If not otherwise mentioned, the facilitator should add this 
question. Have we just compiled a list of characteristics needed 
for high-performance work? Just imagine. If you worked in a job 
that had all these characteristics, wouldn’t you be able to do your 
best work?

(Note: If working with a sharp group that is engaged in 
this activity, the facilitator may choose to share the following 
advanced observation. Otherwise, proceed to Step 9.)

If having a job with all these characteristics would result in you 
doing your best work, what happens if we start to remove these 
characteristics from the job? Let’s see.

Let’s write 100% to indicate your performance with all the 
characteristics, and now let’s begin to remove these characteristics 
one by one to see the impact on your performance.

Let’s remove the first item on the list (ie, draw line through it), 
and say you no longer have this as part of your job. By how much 
will this reduce your performance? Listen for several percentages 
and average. Then subtract from 100% and write alongside the 
first characteristic.

As an example, the typical first characteristics listed are clear 
objectives, inspiring leadership, important purpose or sufficient 
resources. If anyone of these is removed as the first characteristic, 
then the participants need to imagine a job where this 
characteristic is absent and estimate how much it’s absence would 
reduce their job performance. People will see this differently, yet 
a reasonable estimate for any item is in the 10% to 50% range. 
Accept this and proceed. 

Now repeat this process for the second item on the list. Draw 
line through. Ask about the impact of removing both the first 
and second characteristics listed. How will this reduce your 

“Management too should be 
interested in this compounding 
influence of deficiencies in the 
design of work and jobs.”
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Time for your annual performance rating check?

Book your place on our IMS endorsed Rating Clinic – 
available around the UK – and be sure you’re operating to 
the British standard.

Look for details in www.scott-grant.co.uk/study-productivity
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potential to do your best in a job? 
After removing three or four characteristics, the balance of 

their performance potential should be less than 30%. Stop here 
and ask what the dynamics of these characteristics is telling them. 

Management too should be interested in this compounding 
influence of deficiencies in the design of work and jobs. 

Step 9. Grade current-job characteristics
Working from the premise that the characteristics represent 
conditions that altogether enable people to perform at their 
highest level (ie, when they love their work), now have the 
participants shift their focus to their current work or job, and ask 
them to assess the relative need/opportunity for improvement to 
each characteristic. Ask the participants to assign a school grade 
(ie, C+, A-) to each characteristic, reflecting its current level of 
sufficiency. 

This data can be collected in two ways. (1) If the group represents 
a diverse range of work or jobs, such that averaging grades for 
characteristics will lose important detail concerning variances 
throughout the organisation, then participants should be asked 
to copy the list from the board and individually assign grades to 
each characteristic. Anonymity is encouraged, yet some identifier 
for each type of work or job will be necessary for the grades to be 
accurately tabulated. (2) If the group of participants more or less 
perform the same work, have the same job, or work for the same 
organisation unit, then it is faster to capture and tally the grading 
of characteristics as a group (see list at the top of the next column).

Now, let’s focus on your current work or job, and use this list 
to ask ourselves how the organisation is doing in meeting 
your preferences for these characteristics. Let’s do this with a 
simple school grade, such as C+, A- and so on. Let’s take each 
characteristic, this time starting at the bottom of the list, and 
for each please call out the grade you give this characteristic 
for your current work or job. You can help me calculate an 

approximate average of your responses.  
The results can be expected to look something like this:
Clear objective and challenging goal B-
Sufficient resources to do the job right C
Needed responsibility and authority A-
Genuine trust and support of manager C
Great team of focused people A+
Frequent helpful feedback D
Have the knowledge and skills needed A-
Fair compensation and incentives B
Job is important to the company F

This data can be helpful to managers who are seeking priorities 
for improving their organisation’s performance. Managers 
can choose to work directly at improving some of these 
characteristics, or they can assign each characteristic to a small 
team of participants with the charge to talk to other participants 
and prepare an improvement plan for the manager. A secondary 
benefit of continuing to involve the participants is the resulting 
temporary ‘Hawthorne effect’ (the alteration of behaviour by the 
subjects of a study due to their awareness of being observed) and 
enhanced readiness to lead and support change. 

Even small improvements to just a few characteristics will 
begin to reveal the love organisation members can have for 
their work, job and organisation. Larger improvements to more 
characteristics will develop and deepen that love even more.
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I am pleased to report that 2017 was a good year for the 
Institute, we saw a large intake of new members via our 
education system. It has been encouraging to see the growth 
of membership numbers year on year. It is gratifying to see 
the large number of national companies who are placing staff 
on Institute productivity courses as this demonstrates the high 
esteem employers have for the training the Institute provides.

Early in the year, sadly after a short illness, Richard Bridges 
died. Richard had been a long standing member of the 
Institutes Council of Management serving for a period as 
Deputy Chairman. I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
Richard’s family for his contribution to the Institute over so many 
years.

Communication is a key responsibility for any professional 
body and this is something the institute does very well. During 
the year the Institute finalised plans to move the Institutes 
printed journal to digital format and available to members 
online rather than a printed copy. This change will take place in 
2018.

The 2017 AGM was well attended and the introduction of a 
speaker session following the AGM was well received by the 
large number of members attending. The two speakers were 
John Heap and Colin Coulson-Thomas.

John Heap stood down from Council after some forty years 
as an elected member. John’s contribution to the Institute has 
been outstanding and his wisdom and knowledge will be sadly 
missed. I would wish John success in his future endeavours as I 
feel sure he will remain active in the productivity field for many 
more years.

Towards the end of the year the Institute began the search 
for a new President and we were pleased to announce the 
appointment of Professor Colin Coulson-Thomas who is a long 
standing Institute member. Colin takes up his new role at the 
beginning of 2018.

The Institute remains very financially sound with large 
reserves that ensure the future viability of the Institute. We can 
be sure that our position as the leading professional body for 
productivity in the UK has a bright future. 

Chairman’s Statement 2017
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Legal and administrative information

Report of the trustees (incorporating the directors’ report)
for the year ended 31 December 2017

The trustees present their report and the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The trustees, who are 
also directors for the purposes of company law and who served 
during the year and up to the date of this report are set out on 
page 39.

Structure, governance and management
Charitable objects
The Institute has as its main objective the promotion of the 
science, technology, practice and profession of Management 
Services, which results in the advancement of the efficiency, 
productivity and satisfaction of human work.

Organisation and structure
The Institute has eight trustees who are elected by the 
membership in two groups of four. Elections are held prior to 
the Annual General Meeting, where the results of the ballot 
are counted. Elections are held in alternative years with the 
elections having taken place in 2017 and the next elections 
due in 2019. The Board of Trustees meet three times a year in 
addition to the Annual General Meeting.

Risk review, governance and internal control
Directors are responsible for providing assurance that:

The systems of internal control are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. They include regular financial reports to 
Council and an external audit.

How our activities deliver public benefit
It is a requirement of section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 that a 
charity has due regard to the guidance issued by the Commission 
on how the charity provides a ‘Public Benefit’.

The Directors of the Institute have fully satisfied themselves 
that as a registered charity they do provide a Public Benefit. The 
Institute has as its main objective the promotion of the science, 
technology, practice and profession of management services, 
which results in the advancement of the efficiency, productivity 
and satisfaction of human work.

The achievements and performance 
Our Articles of Association and Memorandum clearly require the 
Institute to expand the concept and knowledge of the benefits 
of productivity in improving the wealth and living standards 
of all. These objectives are achieved by publishing a regular 
journal containing articles on productivity and maintaining a 
website that contains information on productivity techniques 
and current thinking on productivity. We also publish regular 
newsletters which are available on the website. The journal and 
website are freely available for all to access.  

All our charitable activities focus on making widely known the 
benefits of improving productivity as a means of raising the living 
standards of all people in the world. To this end we are associated 
with all the world’s leading productivity organisations.

Recruitment and appointment of Council of Management
The directors of the company are also charity trustees for the 
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purposes of charity law and under the company’s Articles are 
known as members of the Council of Management. Under the 
requirements of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, 
the members of the Council of Management are elected to serve 
for a period of four years after which they must be re-elected at 
the next Annual General Meeting. All members of the Council 
of Management give their time voluntarily and received no 
benefits from the charity. Any expenses reclaimed from the 
charity are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

Trustee induction and training
Most trustees are already familiar with the practical work of the 
charity. Additionally, new trustees are allocated a mentor and 
are invited and encouraged to participate in a series of short 
training sessions to familiarise themselves with the charity and 
the context within which it operates. The induction process is 
designed to support new trustees and ensure they understand 
the obligations of becoming a member of the IMS Council of 
Management.

Future plans and objectives
The Institute plans to have an ongoing campaign to increase 
membership also to increase subscriptions to the Institute 
Journal. Currently, existing members are being encouraged to 
upgrade their membership to higher membership grades.

Relationship between charities and related parties
The institute co-operates with the RM Currie Memorial Fund 
which is a charity dedicated to advancing the concept of 
productivity. The Institute appoints the trustees to the RM Currie 
Memorial Fund and presently three trustees of the Institute of 
Management Services also serve as trustees to the RM Currie 
Memorial Fund; David Blanchflower, Simon Tate and Richard 
Taylor. During the 2017 financial year, there were no financial 
transactions between the two charities.

Achievements and performance
The Institute continues to reap the financial benefits of 
outsourcing its administration function to an outsourcing 
organisation based in Lichfield.

The introduction of Life Membership in 2005 continues to ensure 
the financial viability of the Institute into the distant future. 
In 2017, the Institute again saw an increasing membership 
including more members joining from overseas.

The Institute’s quarterly Journal ‘Management Services’ continues 
to be a highly respected publication and is provided free to all 
members. The Journal is also supplied to subscribers worldwide.

Institute membership continues to grow with increasing 
numbers of students becoming life members upon successful 
completion of their Institute examinations. Life membership of 
the Institute continues to offer exceptional value for money to 
the members.

The Institute website is the Institute’s face to the world and 
has attracted visits from all around the world. In the present 
technological age it is important that the Institute maintains 

an informative website and continues its role of being a major 
source of information on productivity improvement.

In 2017, the regular email newsletter continued to be emailed 
to all Institute members on a two monthly frequency. The 
newsletter contains information from around the world on 
current productivity thinking and focuses on the Institute’s core 
subject area of productivity improvement; the newsletter is also 
freely available on the website.

The 2017 AGM was held in the George Hotel, Lichfield and 
attracted a sizable number of members, and was followed by 
talks from two eminent speakers on productivity themes.

Currently, the Institute has one UK education provider accredited 
to provide courses leading to the award of the Institute’s 
Certificate This provider also provides Institute training 
courses in several countries worldwide. The Institute also has 
one overseas accredited education provider. These education 
providers continue to provide a valuable service and also bring 
new members into the Institute. We continue to award student 
of the year prizes and it is gratifying to see the number of large 
national UK companies, government departments and overseas 
companies who are sending employees on Institute approved 
education courses.

Financial review
Risk management
Financially, the Institute is extremely sound and the adoption 
of life membership ensures that the Institute can plan long 
term. On current predictions the present reserves will sustain 
the Institute for in excess of ten years. All investments are made 
using an investment strategy that safeguards the investments. 

Currently, the main sources of income to the Institute are new 
members and the income from education courses. In 2017, the 
Institute membership continued to grow with the addition of 
more Institute training courses.

Plans for future periods
The Institute has a policy to maintain its reserves at a level that 
ensures the future financial viability of the Institute. That level 
is deemed to be one that equates to a minimum of one year’s 
expenditure; currently the Institute holds reserves that exceed 
this target level by fivefold. The funds of the charity are all 
unrestricted. Note 14 of the financial statements indicates the 
level of the Institutes reserves.

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors
In so far as the trustees are aware:
-  There is no relevant audit information of which the charity’s 

auditors are unaware; and
-  the trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have 

taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit  
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of 
that information.

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities
The trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ 
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Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice.

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the surplus or 
deficit of the charity for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the trustees are required to:
-  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;
-  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent; and
-  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 

unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will 
continue in operation.  

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the charity, and which enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement as to disclosure to our auditors
In so far as the trustees are aware at the time of approving our 
trustees’ annual report:

-  There is no relevant information, being information needed by 
the auditor in connection with preparing their report, of which 
the company’s auditor is unaware, and

-  the trustees, having made enquiries of fellow trustees and the 
company’s auditor that they ought to have individually  
taken, have each taken all steps that he/she is obliged to take 
as a trustee in order to make themselves aware of any  
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is 
aware of that information.

Auditors
Leftley Rowe and Company are deemed to be reappointed in 
accordance with Section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

Small company provisions
This report has been prepared in accordance with the special 
provisions for small companies under Part 15 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

On behalf of the board

A. P. Muir
Company Secretary
Date: 8 June 2018

Independent auditors’ report to 
the trustees of The Institute of 
Management Services

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Institute of 
Management Services for the year ended 31 December 2017 
which comprise the statement of financial activities, the balance 
sheet, the cash flow statement and the related notes including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).) and 
the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

In our opinion the financial statements:
-  Give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs 

as at 31 December 2017 and of its incoming resources and 
application of resources, including its income and expenditure, 
for the year then ended;

-  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice applicable to 
Smaller Entities; and

-  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you 
where:
-  The trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; 
or

-  the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements 
any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

Other Information
The other information comprises the information included in 



42 Management Services 
Autumn 2018

Independent auditors’ report to the trustees of  
The Institute of Management Services

the annual report, other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 
2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of 
the audit:
-  the information given in the directors’ report for the financial 

year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and

-  the trustees’ report has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the 
directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion:
-  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns 

adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

-  the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and the returns; or

-  certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

-  we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit; or

-  the trustees were not entitled to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with the small companies regime 
and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in 
preparing the trustees’ report and from the requirement to 
prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 40, the trustees (who are also 
directors of the charitable company for the purposes of 
company law) are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, , and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
-  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

-  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control.

-  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the trustees.

-  Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

-  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Christopher Andrews (senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Leftley Rowe and Company Chartered 
Accountants and Statutory Auditors 15 June 2018

The Heights, 59-65 Lowlands Road, Harrow, Middlesex HA1 3AW
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
  Unrestricted 2017 2016
  funds Total Total
Income
Donations and legacies 4 1,000 1,000 5,116
Income from Investments 5 3,286 3,286 6,608
Income from charitable activities 6 78,013 78,013 36,315
Income from other activities         7    25,038     25,038              -

Total income    107,337   107,337    48,039
Expenditure     
Expenditure on charitable activities 8    82,097     82,097    84,687

Total expenditure     82,097     82,097    84,687

Net income/(expenditure) for the year before gains/(losses) on investments  25,240 25,240 (36,648)

Net gains/(losses) on investments
Gains/(Losses) on revaluation of investment assets       2,905       2,905         786

Net movement in funds  28,145 28,145 (35,862)

Reconciliation of funds 
Total funds brought forward    384,268   384,268   420,130

Total funds carried forward   412,413   412,413   384,268

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year and therefore a separate statement of total 
recognised gains and losses has not been prepared.

All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities

Statement of financial activities  
(incorporating the income and expenditure account)

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017

   2017  2016
Fixed assets Notes £ £ £ £

Tangible fixed assets 11  -  -

Current assets
Debtors 12 2,405  2,769
Current asset investment 13 177,905  -
Bank and cash    243,870    433,967

  424,180  436,736
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14   (11,767)    (37,694)

Net current assets     412,413  399,042

Total assets less current liabilities     412,413  399,042

Creditors: amounts falling due  
after more than one year 15                -  (14,774)

Net assets     412,413  384,268

Funds 17
Unrestricted income funds     412,413  384,268

Total funds     412,413  384,268

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to 
small companies.

The financial statements were approved by the board on 8 June 2018 and signed on its behalf by

J. Cutler FMS (Chairman) 
Director
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1.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
The charity is a private company limited by guarantee, registered in England and Wales. The address of the registered office is 
Brooke House, 24 Dam Street, Lichfield, Staffordshire,WS13 6AA. 

2.  STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
These financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, Section 1A, ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland’. 

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1.  BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and the Companies Act 2006. Institute of Management Services 
meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or 
transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).

3.2.  PREPARATION OF THE ACCOUNTS ON A GOING CONCERN BASIS 
The Institute has a policy to maintain its reserves at a level that ensures the future financial viability of the Institute. That level 
is deemed to be one that equates to a minimum of one year’s expenditure; currently the Institute holds reserves that exceed 
this target level by fourfold and as such is financially very sound and that on this basis the charity is a going concern.

3.3.  CASHFLOW 
The charity has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS102 from the requirement to produce a cashflow statement because it 
is a small charity. 

3.4.  FUND ACCOUNTING 
Unrestricted funds are available to spend on activities that further any of the purposes of charity. The charity does not have 
any restricted or designated fund. 

3.5.  INCOME  
All income and endowments are included in the statement of financial activities when the charity is entitled to the income and 
the amount can be quantified with reasonable accuracy. The following specific policies are applied to particular categories of 
income: 
Income from charitable activities and investments are included in the year in which it is receivable. Annual membership 
subscriptions are included in full in the Statement of Financial Activities when receivable. Life membership subscriptions is now 
included in full in the Statement of Financial Activities when receivable rather than deferred over the estimated 10 years for 
the life of membership.

3.6.  EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 
Expenditure is recognised on an accrual basis as a liability is incurred. Expenditure includes any VAT which cannot be fully 
recovered, and is reported as part of the expenditure to which it relates.

 Expenditure on charitable activities are recognised in the year in which they are incurred.  

  Support costs are those costs incurred directly in support of expenditure on the objects of the charity and include project 
management.

3.7.  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off 
the cost less residual value of each asset over its expected useful life, as follows:

 Fixtures, fittings and equipment – 33% straight line p.a.

3.8.  INVESTMENTS 
Current asset investments are revalued at mid-market value at the balance sheet date and the gain or loss taken to the 
statement of financial activities.

3.9.  INTEREST RECEIVABLE 
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the charity; this is 
normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the Bank. 

3.10.  IRRECOVERABLE VAT 
All resources expended are classified under activity headings that aggregate all costs related to the category.

3.11.  DEBTORS 
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. Prepayments are 
valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.

3.12.  CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND 
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of three months or 
less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.13.  CREDITORS AND PROVISIONS 
Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past event that will 
probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be measured or 
estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade 
discounts due.

3.14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The charity only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial 
instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement value with the 
exception of bank loans which are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

3.15.  ALLOCATION OF SUPPORT COSTS 
Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake charitable activities. 
Support costs include outsourcing administration costs, finance, printing, postage and stationery, professional and governance 
costs which support the Institute programmes and activities. These costs have been allocated between cost of activities in 
furtherance of the objects of the charity ( note 8 ). 

4. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES Unrestricted 2017 2016
  funds Total Total
  £ £ £
Donations    1,000    1,000    5,116

The income from donations was unrestricted and amounted to £1,000 (2016 : £5,116).
 
5. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS Unrestricted 2017 2016
  funds Total Total
  £ £ £
Listed investment income    3,286    3,286    6,608
 
6. INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES Unrestricted 2017 2016
  funds Total Total
  £ £ £
Membership Subscriptions 35,669 35,669 11,506
Advertising revenue and journal subscriptions 12,648 12,648 10,273
Examination entry fees 9,765 9,765 4,350
General    19,931    19,931    10,186
     78,013    78,013    36,315

7. INCOME FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES Unrestricted 2017 2016
  funds Total Total
  £ £ £
Surplus on retirement benefit pension scheme    25,038    25,038             -

The Trustees have decided that the provision of withholding tax, when the Institute provided for the retirement  benefit pension trivial 
commutation lump sum payment back in 2013 and before, is now not payable and the  provision should be released back to the Statement of 
Financial Activities. 

8. EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES  Advertising
  Membership  and journal
  subscription subscription Examinations Governance 2017 2016
  £ £ £ £ £ £
Costs directly allocated to activities
Basis of allocation – Direct
Examination charges - - 796 - 796 535
Repairs and maintenance 16 - - - 16 -
Journals printing, postage and related costs - 31,150 - - 31,150 32,893
Telephone 146 - - - 146 140
Conference costs 592 - - - 592 1,638
Sponsorships and awards 187 - - - 187 289

Support costs allocated to activities
Basis of allocation – to main activity
Committee meeting expenses  - - - 4,432 4,432 6,415
Insurance - - - 886 886 854
Outsourcing administration costs 34,184 - - - 34,184 31,481
Printing, postage and stationery 896 - - 255 1,151 1,867
Computer costs (438) - - - (438) 447
Professional fees 48 - - - 48 48
Bank charges 22 - - - 22 78
Irrecoverable VAT 5,975 - - - 5,975 5,165
Audit fees - - - 2,900 2,900 2,790
General expenses           50              -           -            -           50           47
     41,678    31,150      796    8,473    82,097    84,687
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9. EMPLOYEES
Employment costs
No salaries or wages have been paid to employees, including the trustees, during the year. No members of the management committee 
received any remuneration during the year. Committee meeting and travelling expenses amounting to £4,432 (2016 – £6,415) were 
reimbursed to 7 (2016 – 7) members of the management committee. No trustee or other person related to the charity had any personal 
interest in any contract or transaction entered into by the charity during the year (2016 – Nil).

No salaries or wages have been paid to employees, including the trustees, during the year.

Number of employees
The average monthly numbers of employees (including the trustees) during the year, calculated on the basis of  full time equivalents, was as 
follows:
     2017   2016
     Number   Number
Administration             8            8

Out of pocket expenses were reimbursed to the trustees as follows:  2017   2016
     £   £
Travel, accommodation, stationery       4,432      6,415
 

10. TAXATION
The charity’s activities fall within the exemptions afforded by the provisions of Part 10 Income Tax Act 2007 or Section 256 of the Taxation 
of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that these are applied to its charitable  objects. Accordingly, there is no taxation charge in these 
accounts.
 
   Fixtures,
11. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS  fittings and 
   equipment Total
   £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2017 and
At 31 December 2017          9,475     9,475

Depreciation
At 1 January 2017 and
At 31 December 2017          9,475     9,475

Net book values
At 31 December 2017                  -             -
At 31 December 2016                  -             -

12. DEBTORS  2017 2016
   £ £
Trade debtors  1,009 397
Other debtors  493 1,485
Prepayments             903        887
           2,405     2,769

13. CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS
   2017 2016
   £ £
M & G Charifund (Income) at market value
Listed short term investment       177,905             -

Historical cost        175,000             -

14. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR  2017 2016
   £ £
Trade creditors  4,108 4,482
Other creditors  - 25,588
Accruals and deferred incoming resources (Note 16)           7,659          7,624
          11,767        37,694

15. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR  2017 2016
   £ £
Accruals and deferred incoming resources (Note 16)                   -        14,774
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16. ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOMING RESOURCES  2017 2016
   £ £
Advance subscriptions
At 1 January 2017  18,888 16,526
Increase in year  - 4,405
   18,888 20,931
Released in year      (14,774)     (2,078)
At 31 December 2017           4,114      18,853

Included in accruals and deferred incoming resources in 2016 were lifetime-membership subscription receipts. These incomes were released 
to the statement of financial activity over the estimated lifetime of members of 10 years. From 2017 onward, the lifetime-membership 
subscriptions are recognised as income in the year when the  charity has entitlement to the receipts.

17. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS
   Unrestricted Total
   funds funds
   £ £
Fund balances at 31 December 2017 as represented by:
Current assets  424,180 424,180
Current liabilities      (11,767)     (11,767)
        412,413     412,413

18. UNRESTRICTED FUNDS At  At
  1 January Incoming Outgoing Gains and 31 December
  2017 resources resources (losses) 2017
  £ £ £ £ £
General fund     384,268     82,299     (57,059)     2,905     412,413

Purposes of unrestricted funds
The Institute has as its main objective the promotion of science, technology, practice and profession of  Management Services which results in 
the advancement of the efficiency, productivity and satisfaction of human work.

The purpose of the unrestricted funds is the dissemination of knowledge and information on productivity  improvement both to its members 
and the public in general, in order to improve the financial viability of both  companies and countries across the world. The increasing 
realisation of the role that productivity improvement  can play in ensuring the economic well-being of all is an indicator of the success of the 
Institute over the past 47 years.

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The institute co-operates with the RM Currie Memorial Fund which is a charity dedicated to advancing the  concept of productivity. The 
Institute appoints the trustees to the RM Currie Memorial Fund and presently three  trustees of the Institute of Management Services also 
serve as trustees to the RM Currie Memorial Fund, they are  David Blanchflower, Simon Tate and Richard Taylor. During the 2017 financial 
year no transaction took place  between the two charities. In 2016 the RM Currie Memorial Fund donated £4,500 to enable the Institute to 
undertake a membership recruitment campaign.
 

20. COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE
Institute of Management Services is a company limited by guarantee and accordingly does not have a share  capital. Every member of the 
company undertakes to contribute such amount as may be required not exceeding £1 to the assets of the charitable company in the event of 
its being wound up while he or she is a member, or within one year after he or she ceases to be a member.



 

With the advent of life membership 
we are attracting new members. There 
are still people who are engaged in 
management services who are not 
members and we would like them to join 
the Institute.

We can use our ‘direct entry’ route to fast 
track this and information is available 
from Brooke House.

We very much hope that our existing 
members will make potential members 
aware of this option.

Why Don’t YOU  
Join the IMS

What Next?
Contact the IMS for an application form
W:   www.ims-productivity.com
E:   admin@ims-productivity.com
T:   01543 266909
*   Brooke House, 24 Dam Street,  

Lichfield, Staffs WS13 6AA

 
• Actively promoting the IMS in your place of work 

•  Encourage colleagues at work as well as  
professional and social contacts to join  
the Institute

•  Refer potential new members to the Journal  
as an example of what the IMS is about

•  Remind potential members of the benefits of IMS 
membership, eg, education system, regional structure, 
recognised professional qualification

•  Up to the minute information via the IMS Journal and 
website professional support

• Undertaking contract/consultancy work


